

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Hassani-Nezhad, Lena; Ananian, Sevane; Drydakis, Nick

Working Paper A study on the employment and wage outcomes of persons living with a same-sex partner

ILO Working Paper, No. 131

Provided in Cooperation with: International Labour Organization (ILO), Geneva

Suggested Citation: Hassani-Nezhad, Lena; Ananian, Sevane; Drydakis, Nick (2024) : A study on the employment and wage outcomes of persons living with a same-sex partner, ILO Working Paper, No. 131, ISBN 978-92-2-041300-5, International Labour Organization (ILO), Geneva, https://doi.org/10.54394/EEXC9149

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/307696

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.





A study on the employment and wage outcomes of persons living with a same-sex partner

Authors / Lena Hassani-Nezhad, Sevane Ananian, Nick Drydakis



Copyright © International Labour Organization 2024



This is an open access work distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). Users can reuse, share, adapt and build upon the original work, as detailed in the License. The ILO must be clearly credited as the owner of the original work. The use of the emblem of the ILO is not permitted in connection with users' work.

Attribution – The work must be cited as follows: Hassani-Nezhad, L., Ananian, S., Drydakis, N. *A study on the employment and wage outcomes of persons living with a same-sex partner*. ILO Working Paper 131. Geneva: International Labour Office, 2024.

Translations – In case of a translation of this work, the following disclaimer must be added along with the attribution: *This translation was not created by the International Labour Organization (ILO) and should not be considered an official ILO translation. The ILO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation.*

Adaptations – In case of an adaptation of this work, the following disclaimer must be added along with the attribution: *This is an adaptation of an original work by the International Labour Organization (ILO).* Responsibility for the views and opinions expressed in the adaptation rests solely with the author or authors of the adaptation and are not endorsed by the ILO.

This CC license does not apply to non-ILO copyright materials included in this publication. If the material is attributed to a third party, the user of such material is solely responsible for clearing the rights with the right holder.

Any dispute arising under this license that cannot be settled amicably shall be referred to arbitration in accordance with the Arbitration Rules of the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL). The parties shall be bound by any arbitration award rendered as a result of such arbitration as the final adjudication of such a dispute.

All queries on rights and licensing should be addressed to the ILO Publishing Unit (Rights and Licensing), 1211 Geneva 22, Switzerland, or by email to rights@ilo.org.

ISBN 9789220412992 (print), ISBN 9789220413005 (web PDF), ISBN 9789220413012 (epub), ISBN 9789220413029 (mobi), ISBN 9789220413036 (html). ISSN 2708-3438 (print), ISSN 2708-3446 (digital)

https://doi.org/10.54394/EEXC9149

The designations employed in ILO publications, which are in conformity with United Nations practice, and the presentation of material therein do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the ILO concerning the legal status of any country, area or territory or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers.

The responsibility for opinions expressed in signed articles, studies and other contributions rests solely with their authors, and publication does not constitute an endorsement by the ILO of the opinions expressed in them.

Reference to names of firms and commercial products and processes does not imply their endorsement by the ILO, and any failure to mention a particular firm, commercial product or process is not a sign of disapproval.

Information on ILO publications and digital products can be found at: www.ilo.org/researchand-publications

ILO Working Papers summarize the results of ILO research in progress, and seek to stimulate discussion of a range of issues related to the world of work. Comments on this ILO Working Paper are welcome and can be sent to research@ilo.org.

Authorization for publication: Richard Samans, Director, Research Department

ILO Working Papers can be found at: www.ilo.org/global/publications/working-papers

Suggested citation:

Hassani-Nezhad, L., Ananian, S., Drydakis, N. 2024. *A study on the employment and wage out-comes of persons living with a same-sex partner*, ILO Working Paper 131 (Geneva, ILO). https://doi.org/10.54394/EEXC9149

Abstract

This study examines the labour market disparities faced by same-sex couples across nine countries (Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, France, Mexico, Thailand, the United States of America and the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela), extending the focus of previous studies by looking beyond developed countries. Consistent with the existing literature, the findings presented here show that, in many countries, men in same-sex couples participate in the labour market to a lesser extent, experience higher unemployment rates and receive lower wages than comparable men in opposite-sex couples. Conversely, women in same-sex couples are more likely to be employed than comparable heterosexual women and to enjoy a wage premium in some countries. Finally, it makes the case for further research, especially in developing countries.

About the authors

Lena Hassani-Nezhad is an Assistant Professor of Economics at City, University of London. Her research interests lie in Empirical Microeconomics, Labour Economics, and Economics of the Family. She completed her PhD at Royal Holloway, University of London in 2018.

Sévane Ananian joined the Research Department of the International Labour Organization (ILO) as an economist in September 2021. His areas of expertise are inequality, wages and working conditions, and the transition to a green economy.

Nick Drydakis is a Professor of Economics at Anglia Ruskin University and Courses Convenor at the University of Cambridge. He edits the Demography, Family, and Gender theme for IZA World of Labor, a collaboration between IZA, the World Bank, and OECD.

Table of contents

	Abstract	01
	About the authors	01
	Introduction	05
▶ 1	Data and descriptive statistics	07
	Identification of same-sex partnership	07
	Descriptive statistics	08
▶ 2	Methodology for studying the employment and earnings disparities faced by persons with a same-sex partner	14
▶ 3	Estimation results	15
	Labour force participation	15
	Unemployment	15
	Self-employment	17
	Wages	18
	Conclusion	20
	Appendix I. Earnings gaps and unemployment risks based on sexual orientation: A literature review	21
	A.I.1. Introduction	21
	A.I.2. Strategies for identifying sexual orientation	22
	A.I.3. Empirical approaches used to study earnings gaps and unemployment risks based on sexual orientation	23
	A.I.4. The earliest studies of earnings gaps based on sexual orientation, and aggregated pat- terns	24
	A.I.5. Earnings gaps based on sexual orientation in opposite-sex and same-sex couples	25
	A.I.6. Unemployment risks based on sexual orientation	27
	A.I.7. Earnings patterns and unemployment risks for gay men and lesbians: Possible reasons and theoretical considerations	28
	A.1.7.a. Earnings penalties for gay men	28
	A.1.7.b. Earnings premiums for lesbians	30
	A.I.7.c. Unemployment risks among sexual orientation minorities	31
	References (Appendix I.)	31

Appendix II. Estimates of other explanatory variables	37
A.II.1. Labour force participation	38
A.II.2. Unemployment	39
A.II.3. Self-employment	40
A.II.4. Wages	42

Appendix III. Robustness check using a direct measure to identify same-sex partnership: The case of Chile	44
References	45
Acknowledgements	47

List of Tables

Table 1. National surveys used in the study	07
Table 2. Descriptive statistics for coupled heterosexual men and coupled gay men in the sampled countries	10
Table 3. Descriptive statistics for coupled heterosexual women and coupled lesbians in the sampled countries	12
Table 4. Same-sex partnership and labour market outcomes in the sampled countries	16
Table 5. Same-sex partnership and wages in the sampled countries	19
Table A.II.1. Same-sex partnership and labour force participation rate	38
Table A.II.2. Same-sex partnership and unemployment	39
Table A.II.3. Same-sex partnership and self-employment	40
Table A.II.4. Same-sex partnership and wages	42
Table A.III. Labour market outcomes and same-sex partnership identified with a direct measure: the case of Chile	44

Introduction

The labour market situation of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT+)¹ persons remains largely unexplored, even in countries where considerable legal advances have been achieved for such people. This is due partly to the lack of regular data compilation and production of labour statistics focusing on LGBT+ persons. Indeed, methodological efforts to that end have been undertaken in only a few countries (Gammarano 2019). In addition, despite its global relevance, most research on this topic has focused on developed countries, with only a few studies covering developing countries, such as Chile and Uruguay (Brown, Contreras and Schmidt 2019) or South Africa (Nyeck et al. 2019).

Examining the potential disparities faced by LGBT+ individuals in labour markets worldwide is therefore essential to attain a global perspective on the challenges that this community may experience in the world of work. The resulting insights can ultimately facilitate the development of effective policies to address any problems identified.

In the present study, we contribute to the growing literature in this field by analysing the labour market disparities faced by people with same-sex partners across a wider group of countries than has hitherto been the case, namely in Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, France, Mexico, Thailand, the United States of America and the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela. Our aim is to arrive at a broader understanding of labour market inequalities based on sexual orientation by examining the situation in countries from various geographical areas. Since in many of the countries covered by this study there is no official statistical measure that allows one to directly identify same-sex partners, we rely on approaches employed in previous studies (Arabsheibani, Marin and Wadsworth 2005; Allegretto and Arthur 2001) and draw on information regarding heads of household and their partners for that purpose. Using the metric of same-sex partnership thus obtained, we investigate differences in various labour market outcomes that have previously been studied in the literature, including labour force participation, unemployment, self-employment and wages (see Appendix I for a review of the literature on earnings gaps and unemployment risks based on sexual orientation).

Our empirical findings can be summarized in three main points. First, in line with the existing literature, we observe that men living with same-sex partners in all of the aforementioned countries are less likely to participate in the labour market than men living with opposite-sex partners. In contrast, women living with same-sex partners tend to be more active in the labour market than their heterosexual counterparts. Secondly, our data reveals that coupled gay men in Brazil, Chile, Colombia, France and Mexico experience higher unemployment rates than men in opposite-sex couples. For women, the outcomes are mixed: coupled lesbians in Colombia and France are less likely to be unemployed than comparable heterosexual women, but in other countries there does not seem to be a significant correlation between same-sex partnership and unemployment rates. Thirdly, when it comes to earnings disparities, we find a wage penalty of around 10 per cent for coupled gay men in France, Thailand and the United States. Conversely, we identify a wage premium for coupled lesbians in Brazil, Chile and the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela. For the other countries studied, our results do not point to a statistically significant correlation between same-sex partnership and hourly wages. These observations are consistent with well-established findings in the literature on the economics of sexual orientation, which suggest that

The abbreviation LGBT is consistently used with a plus sign in this study (LGBT+) to include other identities.

lesbians often earn more than heterosexual women, while gay men earn less than heterosexual men (Drydakis 2022; Klawitter 2015).

The structure of this study is as follows: Chapter 1 presents the data and provides a summary of the descriptive statistics. Chapter 2 outlines the methodology used. Chapter 3 examines the results from the estimation of the models described in the previous chapter. The last chapter offers some concluding observations.

1 Data and descriptive statistics

This study is based on the analysis of data from nine countries, namely Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, France, Mexico, Thailand, the United States and the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela. Our sample was designed to include only countries where same-sex sexual activity is legal, and for which micro-level information on employment and wages is available through the ILO's repository of microdata.² Given the data constraints, different survey years and waves were used for each country (see table 1 for a detailed breakdown).

► Table 1. National surveys used in the study

Country	Survey	Year and waves
Argentina	Permanent Household Survey (EPH; Encuesta Permanente de Hogares)	2019 (Q1–Q4)
Brazil	Continuous National Household Sample Survey (PNADC; Pesquisa Nacional por Amostra de Domicílios Contínua)	2019
Chile	National Socio-Economic Characterization Survey (CASEN; Encuesta de Caracterización Socioeconómica Nacional)	2017 and 2020
Colombia	Large Integrated Household Survey (GEIH; Gran Encuesta Integrada de Hogares)	2019 and 2022
France	Employment Survey (EE; Enquête Emploi)	2019 (Q1–Q4)
Mexico	National Occupation and Employment Survey (ENOE; Encuesta Nacional de Ocupación y Empleo)	2019 (Q1–Q4)
Thailand	Labour Force Survey (LFS)	2018 and 2019
United States	Current Population Survey (CPS)	2019
Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)	Household Sample Survey (EHM; Encuesta de Hogares por Muestreo)	2017

Identification of same-sex partnership

Same-sex partners are identified in the data set through the combination of the "relationship to head of the household" variable and the variable indicating an individual's sex. Couples are classified as being in a same-sex relationship if the household head and the reported partner are both of the same sex. We compare the labour market outcomes of the members of such couples with those of their counterparts in an opposite-sex relationship.

On the basis of this approach, we established the number of gay men in the data set for each country as follows: Argentina (444), Brazil (1,212), Chile (366), Colombia (842), France (664), Mexico (439), Thailand (171), United States (837), Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela (177). For lesbians in these countries, the corresponding numbers are: Argentina (478), Brazil (1,936), Chile (291),

Colombia (1,085), France (532), Mexico (533), Thailand (433), United States (1,015), Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela (302).³

However, the method used by us to identify same-sex partnership has its limitations. First, someone living with other adults or an adult child could erroneously be labelled as having a same-sex partner if these individuals mistakenly report themselves as partners (Black et al. 2000).⁴ Incorrect classification of a couple as being in a same-sex partnership could also be caused by measurement errors in the sex variable. We assessed the accuracy of our constructed same-sex partnership variable in Brazil and Chile, where a direct identifier for same-sex partnerships is available, by determining the proportion of such partnerships identified through our method that match those indicated by the direct identifier. In Brazil, our constructed variable consistently identifies same-sex partners, with no difference observed between the two metrics. In Chile, although some discrepancies are observed, there was an 87 per cent overlap between our constructed metric and the measure that directly identifies same-sex partners.⁵

The second concern about using the constructed same-sex partnership variable is that same-sex couples who opt to live together may not reflect the wider demographic of lesbians and gay men. The approach chosen may introduce a "disclosure bias", in the sense that economically advantaged gay men and lesbians are in each case more likely to live together (Valfort 2017; Badgett, Carpenter and Sansone 2021).

To ensure that our estimates reflect the population as a whole, and not just our sample, we apply survey weights to all of them.

Descriptive statistics

Tables 2 and 3 provide a comparison between the characteristics and labour market outcomes of individuals with same-sex partners and those of opposite-sex couples. Table 2 focuses on coupled gay men compared with their heterosexual counterparts, while table 3 compares coupled lesbians and women in opposite-sex couples.⁶

In general, the members of same-sex couples tend to be younger (see row 1 in both tables) and to achieve higher educational levels (rows 2 to 4), and they are also more likely to be employed in managerial and professional occupations (row 5).

Turning to labour market outcomes, coupled gay men are less likely to participate in the labour market than their heterosexual counterparts, with the difference between the two groups' participation rates ranging from 1 to 9 percentage points across the nine countries studied (see row 11 in table 2). By contrast, coupled lesbians exhibit a higher labour force participation rate than coupled heterosexual women, with the difference between the two groups ranging from 10 to 36 percentage points, as can be seen from row 11 in table 3. Similar trends are observed for both gay and lesbian couples when it comes to employment rates (see row 12 in both tables).

³ The sample is limited to individuals aged 18–64 years. Consequently, the count of same-sex partners may not always be an even number for a given country.

⁴ The ILOSTAT variables used to identify same-sex relationships are ilo_relationship_aggregate and ilo_sex.

⁵ In Appendix III, we check the robustness of our main findings for Chile by using the variable directly identifing same-sex couples that is available for that country. This exercise suggests that, in general, our estimates are robust to the use of a metric that directly identifies same-sex partnership.

⁶ The corresponding standard errors and numbers of observations are available upon request.

The descriptive evidence suggests that in every country, except for Thailand and the United States, the unemployment rate for coupled gay men exceeds that of their heterosexual counterparts (see row 13 in table 2). Specifically, in Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, France and the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, the difference between the two groups ranges from 2 to 3 percentage points. However, in Mexico, the gap is even more pronounced, with coupled gay men experiencing an unemployment rate that is about 5 percentage points higher.

The evidence regarding the unemployment rates of coupled lesbians in comparison to women in opposite-sex couples is more ambiguous. In Brazil and the United States, unemployment rates for coupled lesbians are higher by 2.1 and 0.8 percentage points respectively (see row 13 in table 3). In contrast, coupled lesbians in Argentina, Colombia and France appear to have lower unemployment rates than their heterosexual counterparts. However, given the limited sample size of same-sex couples, it is crucial to note that these differences may not be statistically significant.

As for self-employment rates, the evidence suggests that such differences are country-specific and not necessarily linked to the gender of same-sex couples. In Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Mexico and the United States, members of same-sex couples are less likely to be self-employed than their heterosexual counterparts, with the difference between the average rates of the two groups ranging from 1.3 to 28 percentage points. Conversely, in France and the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, members of same-sex couples are more likely to be self-employed, with the difference between the average rates of the two groups ranging from 2.3 to 12 percentage points (see row 14 in tables 2 and 3). Thailand presents a unique case: while coupled gay men in that country are more often self-employed, coupled lesbians are less frequently found to be engaged in self-employment, in both cases relative to their heterosexual counterparts.

In terms of hourly wages, we can see that women consistently earn less per hour than men across all these countries. When comparing the hourly wages of members of same-sex and opposite-sex couples, the differences between the two groups, before adjustments for wage-related factors, vary depending on country and gender. In Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Mexico and the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela a wage premium is observed for coupled gay men. However, in France, Thailand and the United States, coupled gay men tend to have lower average hourly wages than their heterosexual counterparts. When comparing coupled lesbians with women in opposite-sex couples, it emerges that in Brazil, Chile, Mexico, Thailand and the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela hourly wages are higher for lesbians. Conversely, in Argentina, Colombia, France and the United States, coupled lesbians earn less on average.

With regard to hours worked, coupled gay men consistently work fewer hours per week than their heterosexual counterparts. On the other hand, except in Mexico and Thailand, coupled lesbians work more hours per week than women in an opposite-sex partnership (see row 16 in tables 2 and 3).

In this section we have highlighted some differences in labour market outcomes between samesex and heterosexual couples, covering such key measures as labour force participation rate, unemployment rate, prevalence of self-employment and hourly wages. Simple descriptive statistics are informative about overall differences in the data, but they do not control for any relationships among variables. The next chapter discusses the methodology that we used to determine whether these observed differences hold when comparing same-sex couples with heterosexual couples who are similar in all observable and economically relevant characteristics.

								6 - 1		-	
		Arger	ntina	Bra	ZII	Ch	ile	Colo	mbia	Fran	ice
		Heterosex.	Gays	Heterosex.	Gays	Heterosex.	Gays	Heterosex.	Gays	Heterosex.	Gays
1	Age (years)	44.62	39.41	42.69	35.22	46.12	36.10	42.85	35.05	45.19	43.66
	Education:										
	1. Lower secondary or below	41.51%	22.80%	43.49%	7.31%	20.11%	2.76%	44.96%	7.78%	17.66%	13.47%
3	2. Upper secondary	38.84%	46.53%	39.13%	44.69%	50.85%	33.07%	31.83%	29.76%	46.40%	43.49%
4	3. Above upper secondary	19.66%	30.66%	17.38%	48.00%	29.04%	64.17%	23.20%	62.46%	35.94%	43.04%
	Occupation:										
5	1. Managerial or professional	25.78%	40.87%	20.70%	48.83%	28.64%	61.61%	29.36%	51.73%	50.55%	54.24%
6	2. Services	26.61%	35.91%	21.08%	33.23%	16.05%	31.74%	14.49%	32.33%	12.50%	29.46%
7	3. Skilled agricultural	22.41%	10.86%	29.17%	5.89%	23.86%	3.33%	24.52%	6.55%	19.28%	4.66%
	4. Skilled machinery	15.69%	5.58%	14.69%	3.26%	15.37%	0.81%	15.96%	3.66%	10.18%	3.28%
9	5. Elementary occupations	9.50%	6.78%	14.36%	8.79%	16.07%	2.51%	15.67%	5.73%	7.50%	8.35%
10	employment	15.26%	17.61%	9.79%	18.90%	11.80%	13.75%	4.44%	5.23%	15.71%	20.14%
11	Labour force participation rate	93.95%	86.96%	89.22%	88.58%	93.24%	91.26%	94.29%	89.64%	86.80%	84.98%
12	Employment rate	89.14%	80.66%	84.35%	81.28%	88.33%	84.35%	89.65%	82.09%	82.36%	78.46%
13	rate	5.12%	7.24%	5.47%	8.25%	5.27%	7.57%	4.92%	8.43%	5.12%	7.67%
14	Self-employment rate	29.23%	24.28%	37.55%	21.57%	26.80%	19.20%	49.19%	40.24%	16.10%	18.41%
15	Hourly wage	186.49 Argentine posos	212.23 Argentine pesos	15.94 Brazilian reais	24.97 Brazilian reais	3 322.90 Chilean pesos	4 377.70 Chilean pesos	4 939.97 Colombian pesos	8 112.39 Colombian pesos	€ 14.29	€ 12.80
16	Hours worked per week	41.50	39.12	42.40	41.44	46.39	41.42	49.19	45.36	41.00	38.49
17	Urban residence	n.a.	n.a.	84.71%	98.11%	86.53%	96.57%	74.53%	94.49%	83.17%	81.70%
	Number of observations	32 827	444	387 210	1 212	52 558	366	230 702	842	27 708	664

> Table 2. Descriptive statistics for coupled heterosexual men and coupled gay men in the sampled countries

Table 2 (cont.)

		Mex	lico	Thail	and	United	States		(Bolivarian blic of)
		Heterosex.	Gays	Heterosex.	Gays	Heterosex.	Gays	Heterosex.	Gays
1	Age (years)	44.18	35.40	47.71	46.25	44.96	43.18	43.46	41.80
	Education:								
	1. Lower secondary or below	63.58%	26.58%	68.37%	65.28%	4.72%	1.50%	45.53%	31.55%
3	2. Upper secondary	20.53%	35.99%	15.55%	23.20%	46.95%	34.04%	31.81%	38.33%
4	3. Above upper secondary	15.90%	37.43%	16.08%	11.52%	48.33%	64.46%	22.66%	30.12%
	Occupation:								
5	1. Managerial or professional	17.55%	47.98%	13.19%	9.56%	51.30%	64.51%	13.99%	17.70%
6	2. Services	19.69%	33.59%	16.40%	25.50%	13.45%	24.00%	30.50%	31.39%
7	agricultural	31.91%	10.57%	48.34%	43.75%	17.01%	4.77%	10.43%	5.49%
8	4. Skilled machinery	15.56%	4.35%	12.97%	8.14%	8.76%	3.28%	43.06%	44.74%
9	5. Elementary occupations	15.28%	3.51%	9.09%	13.06%	9.48%	3.44%	2.02%	0.68%
10	Public sector employment	10.18%	11.75%	8.86%	11.87%	11.97%	10.27%	18.53%	18.29%
11	Labour force participation rate	92.63%	91.51%	92.53%	82.99%	89.05%	85.19%	95.60%	84.23%
12	Employment rate	90.84%	85.71%	92.35%	82.99%	87.16%	84.16%	93.62%	80.06%
13	Unemployment rate	1.93%	6.34%	0.20%	0.00%	2.13%	1.20%	2.07%	4.96%
14	Self-employment rate	33.02%	28.36%	55.41%	65.07%	6.79%	5.17%	49.98%	54.18%
15	Hourly wage	36.37 Mexican pesos	55.26 Mexican pesos	82.52 Thai baht	64.46 Thai baht	US\$35.19	US\$31.78	1 771.70 Venezuela n bolívares	1 673.58 Venezuelan bolívares
16	Hours worked per week	63.36	58.58	42.78	42.71	41.26	39.68	41.06	39.08
17	Urban residence	76.79%	96.41%	44.63%	43.53%	82.92%	92.13%		
	Number of observations	245 302	439	257 077	171	58 379	837	10 685	177

n.a. = data not available.

Note: The labour force participation rate is the number of persons in the labour force (i.e. either employed or unemployed) expressed as a percentage of the number of persons of working age. The unemployment rate is the number of unemployed persons expressed as a percentage of the total number of persons in the labour force. The self-employment rate is the number of persons who work as self-employed expressed as a percentage of the number of the number of the number of the number of persons in the labour force. The self-employment rate is the number of persons who work as self-employed expressed as a percentage of the number of persons in employment. "Urban residence" indicates the proportion of people residing in urban areas. The estimates presented in this table are averages for the population group under consideration (i.e. either coupled gay men or coupled heterosexual men) in each country.

		Argentina Brazil		Ch	ile	Colombia		Fran	ice		
		Heterosex.	Lesbians	Heterosex.	Lesbians	Heterosex.	Lesbians	Heterosex.	Lesbians	Heterosex.	Lesbian s
1	Age (years)	43.29	41.37	40.77	33.74	44.87	36.01	40.68	32.46	44.04	39.83
	Education:										
	1. Lower secondary or below	34.53%	30.75%	37.02%	13.96%	20.97%	4.68%	39.55%	18.21%	18.35%	15.95%
	2. Upper secondary	38.72%	41.67%	41.30%	52.77%	50.09%	52.89%	33.30%	39.66%	38.84%	39.54%
4	3. Above upper secondary	26.75%	27.58%	21.68%	33.27%	28.94%	42.43%	27.15%	42.12%	42.81%	44.51%
	Occupation:										
5	1. Managerial or professional	34.23%	28.76%	28.63%	31.73%	40.64%	40.20%	36.16%	35.35%	49.12%	47.28%
6	2. Services	40.90%	33.55%	39.17%	46.50%	32.83%	38.33%	35.01%	35.35%	33.09%	16.08%
7	agricultural	2.40%	7.03%	8.97%	6.40%	5.11%	2.83%	9.76%	9.06%	3.25%	7.68%
8	4. Skilled machinery	2.62%	6.87%	2.72%	2.81%	1.47%	5.48%	4.37%	6.58%	2.50%	7.11%
9	5. Elementary occupations	19.85%	23.78%	20.51%	12.56%	19.94%	13.16%	14.69%	13.66%	12.05%	21.86%
10	Public sector employment	23.38%	22.72%	17.19%	16.21%	19.47%	14.95%	5.57%	2.28%	27.97%	22.24%
11	Labour force participation rate	61.87%	85.87%	62.48%	90.42%	54.81%	89.76%	55.39%	90.48%	76.22%	86.36%
12	Employment rate	56.97%	80.10%	55.99%	79.10%	50.42%	82.64%	49.09%	81.61%	71.46%	82.64%
13	Unemployment rate	7.93%	6.71%	10.39%	12.52%	8.00%	7.94%	11.36%	9.80%	6.24%	4.30%
14	Self-employment rate	25.79%	19.31%	30.50%	26.30%	25.36%	23.02%	48.77%	42.66%	9.68%	13.04%
15	Hourly wage	190.81 Argentine posos	148.49 Argentine pesos	14.00 Brazilian reais	15.67 Brazilian reais	2 805.83 Chilean pesos	2 966.67 Chilean pesos	5 390.93 Colombian pesos	4 865.94 Colombian pesos	€ 12.18	€ 11.79
16	Hours worked per week	29.51	34.78	36.60	40.80	40.21	41.75	39.96	45.87	35.19	36.00
17	Urban residence	n.a.	n.a.	84.62%	97.42%	86.14%	95.15%	74.63%	92.79%	83.20%	79.51%
	Number of observations	34 753	478	412 075	1 936	56 973	291	246 554	1 085	29 804	532

Table 3. Descriptive statistics for coupled heterosexual women and coupled lesbians in the sampled countries

Table 3 (cont.)

		Mex	lico	Thail	Thailand		States		(Bolivarian blic of)
		Heterosex.	Lesbians	Heterosex.	Lesbians	Heterosex.	Lesbians	Heterosex.	Lesbians
1	Age (years)	42.44	34.42	45.98	45.73	44.14	41.4	41.63	42.53
	Education:								
	1. Lower secondary or below	65.10%	40.63%	70.49%	62.83%	4.03%	2.51%	36.54%	46.47%
-	2. Upper secondary	21.36%	32.31%	14.03%	18.28%	41.07%	39.85%	31.02%	28.36%
4	3. Above upper secondary	13.54%	27.06%	15.48%	18.89%	54.90%	57.63%	32.44%	25.17%
	Occupation:								
5	1. Managerial or professional	24.59%	40.39%	10.95%	15.02%	58.06%	59.22%	31.45%	20.68%
6	2. Services	39.31%	33.19%	28.11%	21.93%	32.72%	28.12%	58.62%	43.50%
7	3. Skilled agricultural	10.31%	11.68%	41.15%	41.36%	2.71%	4.80%	1.71%	9.05%
8	4. Skilled machinery	4.53%	6.60%	6.77%	11.63%	1.98%	3.69%	7.93%	26.37%
9	5. Elementary occupations	21.27%	8.14%	13.02%	10.06%	4.54%	4.18%	0.29%	0.39%
10	Public sector employment	16.54%	27.26%	7.71%	12.77%	18.17%	18.29%	33.32%	20.11%
11	Labour force participation rate	44.45%	81.02%	72.13%	83.17%	70.94%	82.71%	58.14%	72.53%
12	Employment rate	43.52%	79.28%	72.02%	83.17%	69.23%	80.09%	55.80%	69.37%
13	rate	2.08%	2.15%	0.15%	0.00%	2.41%	3.17%	4.02%	4.36%
14	Self-employment rate	39.62%	11.76%	58.48%	53.36%	5.61%	4.31%	39.62%	51.96%
15	Hourly wage	40.10 Mexican pesos	42.28 Mexican pesos	74.62 Thai baht	101.05 Thai baht	US\$29.80	US\$29.22	1 585.69 Venezuelan bolívares	1 610.00 Venezuelan bolívares
16	Hours worked per week	54.25	49.73	41.93	40.70	35.12	37.25	36.75	37.53
17	Urban residence	76.56%	96.79%	44.20%	40.73%	82.56%	85.54%		
	Number of observations	259 033	533	281 371	433	62 096	1 015	11 304	302

n.a. = data not available.

Note: The labour force participation rate is the number of persons in the labour force (i.e. either employed or unemployed) expressed as a percentage of the number of persons of working age. The unemployment rate is the number of unemployed persons expressed as a percentage of the total number of persons in the labour force. The self-employment rate is the number of persons who work as self-employed expressed as a percentage of the number of the number of the number of persons in the labour force. The self-employment rate is the number of persons who work as self-employed expressed as a percentage of the number of persons in employment. "Urban residence" indicates the proportion of people residing in urban areas. The estimates presented in this table are averages for the population group under consideration (i.e. either coupled lesbian women or coupled heterosexual women) in each country.

2 Methodology for studying the employment and earnings disparities faced by persons with a same-sex partner

To further analyse inequalities in the labour market based on sexual orientation, we first examine the relationship between sexual orientation and employment (labour force participation, unemployment and self-employment) by estimating the following logistic regression model separately for men and women:

$$\Pr(y_{i} = 1 \mid SameSex_{i}, X_{i}) = \frac{1}{1 + e^{-(\alpha_{0} + \alpha_{1}SameSex_{i} + X_{i}\theta)}} \left(1\right)$$

Where Y_i is a binary variable equal to 1 if individual *i* is in the labour force and zero otherwise. The above model is also estimated for unemployment and self-employment. The variable *SameSex_i* is a binary variable equal to 1 if individual *i* is in a same-sex partnership. The excluded category is composed of individuals who report living in a household with a partner of the opposite sex. X'_i is a vector of observable characteristics. In the main specification we include age, education and a location dummy for residence in an urban area.⁷ α_1 is the coefficient of interest estimating the differences in labour market outcomes of coupled lesbians and gay men compared with their heterosexual counterparts. Following estimation of the logistic regression models, we report the coefficients in Chapter 3 as odds ratios, which involves comparing the odds of labour force participation (or unemployment or self-employment) for same-sex partners with the odds for the members of heterosexual couples.⁸

We further explore the inequalities in the labour market by considering the relationship between sexual orientation and the hourly wages of men and women. In particular, we estimate the following model:

$$LogHourlyWages_{i} = \alpha_{0} + \alpha_{1}SameSex_{i} + X_{i}\theta + \epsilon_{i}$$
 (2)

where the dependent variable is the log of hourly wages. The variable *SameSex*_i is defined as above. $X_i^{'}$ is, again, a vector of observable characteristics. In the main specification, we include age and age squared, education, a location dummy for residence in an urban area, occupation, hours worked and whether the individual is employed in the public sector. α_1 is the coefficient of interest estimating the differences in the log of hourly wages for coupled lesbians and gay men compared with their heterosexual counterparts. The model is estimated using the ordinary least squares method.

⁷ When estimating the equation for self-employment, we include dummy variables for occupation. In all countries where two years of data are used, we also include year fixed effects.

⁸ We also estimate linear probability models – these results are available upon request.

3 Estimation results

In this chapter, we analyse the differences in labour market outcomes between same-sex partners and heterosexual couples, taking observable factors into account. The first section discusses the estimates of the labour force participation rates; the second section sheds light on the unemployment data; and the third section discusses the results for self-employment. In these sections, we estimate equation (1) from Chapter 2 and report the results as odds ratios. Finally, the last section discusses wage disparities, presenting the estimates from equation (2). Only the primary coefficient of interest, α_{1} , is reported in these sections. Estimates of other explanatory variables may be found in Appendix II. It is important to note that while we aim to take all observable characteristics into account, our estimates do not capture the causal effect of being in a samesex partnership on labour market outcomes; they should be interpreted simply as correlations.

Labour force participation

In panel I, part A of table 4 further down, columns 1 to 9 present estimates of the odds of participation in the labour market for men living with a same-sex partner relative to coupled heterosexual men across all the countries studied. In all cases, gay men consistently exhibit lower odds of being in the labour force than their heterosexual counterparts. The corresponding odds ratio ranges from 0.2 in the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela to 0.66 in France. The odds ratio of 0.2 for the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela indicates that coupled gay men in that country are 80 per cent less likely to be in the labour market, while the value of 0.66 for France suggests that coupled gay men there are approximately 34 per cent less likely to participate in the labour market than their heterosexual counterparts. Notably, the odds ratios are statistically significantly different from 1 in all these countries.

Part B of panel I in table 4 sheds light on the labour market participation of women with a samesex partner relative to coupled heterosexual women. Lesbians in every country studied are more likely to be present in the labour market than their heterosexual counterparts. The corresponding odds ratio ranges from 1.9 in the United States to a staggering 6.1 in Colombia. To put these values into context, the ratio for the United States indicates that women in a same-sex partnership there are 1.9 times more likely to be in the labour force than their heterosexual counterparts. All these odds ratios are statistically significantly different from 1 at the 1 per cent significance level.

These observations are in line with previous studies on the labour supply of gay men and lesbians in Chile and Uruguay (Brown, Contreras and Schmidt 2019) and in the United States (Tebaldi and Elmslie 2006; Leppel 2009; Badgett, Carpenter and Sansone 2021). One explanation for these differences put forward in the literature is that the conventional patterns of specialization based on the comparative advantage of partners in a heterosexual couple are either absent (Siminski and Yetsenga 2022) or different for same-sex couples, with such specialization being more prevalent among gay couples than lesbian ones (Hofmarcher and Plug 2022; Martell and Roncolato 2016).

Unemployment

Panel II in table 4 focuses on the relationship between same-sex partnership and the unemployment rate. From part A it can be seen that coupled gay men residing in Brazil, Chile, Colombia, France and Mexico experience a higher unemployment rate than their heterosexual counterparts. The odds ratio ranges from 1.7 in France to 3.1 in Mexico, indicating that while French men in a same-sex partnership are 1.7 times more likely to be unemployed than coupled heterosexual men, Mexican men in such a partnership are 3.1 times more likely to be unemployed than their heterosexual counterparts. In both Argentina and the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela the difference is not statistically significant. In the United States, we do not observe a greater unemployment risk among coupled gay men. Given that the unemployment rate in Thailand is very low (less than 1 per cent in 2019), our small sample of same-sex partners does not allow us to estimate the relationship between same-sex partnership and unemployment.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	<mark>(</mark> 7)	(8)	(9)			
	Argentina	Brazil	Chile	Colombia	France	Mexico	Thailand	United States	Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)			
I. Labour	I. Labour force participation rate											
A. Men												
Gays	0.264***	0.339***	0.379***	0.358***	0.663***	0.452**	0.367***	0.573***	0.209***			
	(.0577)	(.0522)	(.1006)	(.0756)	(.0808)	(.1113)	(.1085)	(.0652)	(.0527)			
B. Womer	ı											
Lesbians	3.896***	4.032***	5.443***	6.073***	1.844***	4.454***	1.918**	1.897***	2.177***			
	(.7192)	-0.3609	(1.1360)	(1.1553)	(.3331)	(.9021)	(.4636)	(.1810)	(.3366)			
II. Unemp	oyment ra	te										
A. Men												
Gays	1.818	2.015***	1.721*	1.741**	1.676**	3.105***	n.a.	0.621	2.478			
	(.8514)	(.3078)	(.4552)	(.3450)	(.3054)	(.9458)	n.a.	(.2116)	(1.4555)			
B. Womer	ı											
Lesbians	0.713	1.043	0.795	0.638*	0.567*	0.733	n.a.	1.303	1.114			
	(.2304)	(.1010)	(.2068)	(.1119)	(.1334)	(.2593)	n.a.	(.3135)	(.4381)			
III. Self-en	ployment i	ate										
A. Men												
Gays	0.896	0.740**	0.986	1.249	1.417**	1.43	1.915**	0.922	1.330			
	(.1789)	(.0711)	(.1987)	(.1747)	(.1778)	(.3045)	(.4261)	(.1771)	(.2751)			
B. Womer	1											
Lesbians	0.563*	0.923	1.105	1.067	1.447*	0.237***	0.834	0.803	1.064			
	(.1351)	(.0817)	(.2803)	(.1306)	(.2334)	(.0513)	(.1994)	(.1555)	(.2146)			

▶ Table 4. Same-sex partnership and labour market outcomes in the sampled countries

n.a. = not applicable.

Note: The table presents the odds ratios obtained by estimation of logistic regression models, with the standard error given inside parentheses below each estimate. The odds ratio reports the odds of the outcome variable for men (women) living with a same-sex partner relative to the odds for men (women) living with an opposite-sex partner. An odds ratio equal to 1 shows that living with a same-sex partner does not affect the odds of the outcome of interest. An odds ratio larger (smaller) than 1 indicates that being in a same-sex partnership increases (decreases) the likelihood of the outcome of interest. The regression models control for age, education, urban residence, occupation (only for self-employment), and year fixed effects if more than two years of data are used in the analyses. Significant values are denoted by *, **, *** at the 10%, 5% and 1% significance levels respectively.

Our findings for gay men are in line with the conclusion from previous studies that these experience a higher unemployment rate than heterosexual men (see Drydakis 2012 for Greece; Fric 2021 for the European Union (EU) countries; and Laurent and Mihoubi 2017 for France). In the United States, drawing on an older wave of the Current Population Survey than the one used for the present study (2000 vs 2019), Leppel (2009) noted unemployment gaps that depended on the population group with which men and women with same-sex partners are compared.⁹

The reasons advanced to explain the higher unemployment rates observed among gay men in the few existing studies on this topic include factors linked to discrimination. In that regard, a recent meta-analysis of studies covering member countries of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) has revealed a substantial level of sexual orientation-based discrimination at the first stages of the hiring process (Flage 2020). Beyond mere disapprobation on the part of employers, unemployment induced by discriminatory behaviours may also arise when homosexuality is perceived as having a cost for the employer and the firm, which could, for instance, be the case if a large proportion of employees, or the consumers, are homophobic (Laurent and Mehoubi 2017). In line with this argument, a number of studies have also high-lighted that some employers may regard homosexuality as a signal of a greater likelihood of HIV infection, which is associated with a risk of lower productivity and higher absenteeism rates.¹⁰

The results for women, presented in panel II, part B, of table 4, are less conclusive. We find that women in a same-sex partnership in Colombia and France are less likely to be unemployed than their heterosexual counterparts. However, the odds ratios in question are only marginally statistically different from 1 (at the 10 per cent significance level). In other countries we do not find that same-sex partnership for women is related to unemployment rates. In general, the findings on unemployment rates among lesbians relative to heterosexual women are more mixed in the literature. For instance, Leppel (2009) reports higher unemployment rates for lesbian couples in the United States, while Fric (2021), using a logistic regression model, finds no significant unemployment differences for coupled lesbians across EU countries.

Self-employment

The relationship between same-sex partnership and self-employment is not immediately obvious. Discrimination against same-sex couples could limit their access to credit markets and business networks, potentially narrowing their opportunities for self-employment. On the other hand, employer prejudices could push them to choose self-employment as a way of avoiding such discrimination, as argued by Leppel (2016).

Our findings on the differences in self-employment of men and women with same-sex partners and their heterosexual counterparts are reported in panel III of table 4. Even when adjusting for observable factors such as geographical location and occupation, the self-employment trends for coupled gay men and lesbians vary considerably across countries. For instance, while men in same-sex partnerships in Brazil are less likely to be self-employed than their heterosexual counterparts, coupled gay men in France and Thailand lean towards self-employment (see columns 2, 5 and 7 of panel III, part A). In Brazil, coupled gay men are about 26 per cent less likely to be self-employed than their heterosexual counterparts, while in France and Thailand, the odds of being self-employed are, respectively, 43 per cent and 92 per cent higher for men in a same-sex partnership. In other countries, the results are not statistically significant, making them difficult

⁹ Leppel (2009) found that same-sex partners were more likely to be unemployed than married opposite-sex partners, but less likely than unmarried opposite-sex partners.

¹⁰ This type of discrimination is often called "statistical discrimination", meaning that it arises when decision-makers use observable characteristics of individuals as a proxy for otherwise unobservable characteristics. See Appendix I for a definition.

to interpret. Turning to women, coupled lesbians in Argentina and Mexico are, respectively, 44 per cent and 76 per cent less likely to be self-employed than women in opposite-sex couples. In contrast, in France they are about 40 per cent more likely to be self-employed than their heter-osexual counterparts (see columns 1, 5 and 6 in panel III, part B).

In the United States we do not find a statistically significant relationship between sexual orientation and self-employment. However, studies of this topic in the US context drawing on American Community Survey data have found that coupled gay men show a reduced likelihood of self-employment compared to heterosexual married men, while self-employment rates among coupled lesbians are similar to those of heterosexual married women (Jepsen and Jepsen 2017). Leppel (2016) concluded that the individuals most likely to be self-employed were heterosexual men, followed by gay men, then lesbians and, lastly, heterosexual women. The findings of these studies suggest that the incidence of self-employment is more likely to be gendered and not to depend so much on sexual orientation. The gendered aspect of self-employment has also been noted by Marlow, Greene and Coad (2018), who studied entrepreneurial activity among gay men and lesbians in the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.

Our results for France are in line with a study by Germon et al. (2020) on entrepreneurship among the LGBT+ community in Paris. They found that LGBT+ individuals exhibited a higher level of entrepreneurial intention than heterosexual individuals. Consistent with their findings, we noted above how the odds of being self-employed for coupled gay men and lesbians in France were higher than for their heterosexual counterparts.¹¹

Wages

In this section we investigate whether the well-established observation in the literature that gay men typically earn less than heterosexual men, whereas lesbians earn more than heterosexual women (for related reviews, see Klawitter 2015; Drydakis 2022; Badgett et al., forthcoming) holds in our sample of countries. The corresponding estimations are presented in table 5.

Our findings highlight a wage penalty for men in a same-sex partnership in France, Thailand and the United States (see columns 5, 7 and 8 of panel A). Specifically, coupled gay men in these countries experience a respective wage penalty of approximately 11 per cent, 15 per cent and 10 per cent compared to their heterosexual counterparts. In contrast, we observe an unexpected wage premium of 15 per cent for coupled gay men in Colombia (see column 4). However, it is important to bear in mind that these estimates could be affected by disclosure bias.¹² Gay men in Colombia who opt to openly cohabit may be in a relatively advantaged economic position, making them potentially unrepresentative of the broader population of gay couples in the country. This could introduce a positive bias in our results. Additionally, we observe a wage premium for coupled lesbians in Brazil, Chile and the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, with respective differentials of 7 per cent, 18 per cent and 35 per cent (see columns 2, 3 and 9 of panel B in table 5). Although the estimated coefficients on the link between same-sex partnership and women's hourly wages are not statistically significant for the other countries studied, in four cases they also suggest a positive relationship (Colombia, France, Mexico and Thailand).

¹¹ The results for labour force participation, unemployment and self-employment are robust to the inclusion of having children as an additional explanatory variable and also to the estimation of linear probability models. These additional estimates are available upon request.

¹² Household survey data is usually anonymous, but some respondents may fear that this is not actually the case or may be reluctant to disclose some information to the survey interviewer.

Recent research findings from the United States drawing on the American Community Survey indicate a wage penalty of 11.7 per cent for coupled gay men and a wage premium of 7.8 per cent for coupled lesbians compared to their married heterosexual counterparts for the year 2018 (Jepsen and Jepsen 2022). While our findings align with theirs regarding the wage penalty for gay men, we do not observe a wage premium for lesbians in the United States. This discrepancy may be due to our smaller sample size and the fact that we used the Current Population Survey instead.

Laurent and Mihoubi (2017), using data from France's Employment Survey covering the 1996–2007 period, found that men in a same-sex partnership earned 6.5 per cent less than their heterosexual counterparts in the private sector and 5.8 per cent less in the public sector. Women in same-sex couples earned 2.1 per cent more than their heterosexual counterparts in the private sector but only 0.3 per cent more in the public sector. In our study, we find that coupled gay men, in general, earn 11 per cent less than their heterosexual counterparts, while the difference is not statistically significant for women in same-sex relationships, which may be due to the relatively small size of our sample.¹³

	(1)	(2)	<mark>(</mark> 3)	<mark>(</mark> 4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
	Argentina	Brazil	Chile	Colombia	France	Mexico	Thailand	United States	Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)
A. Men	A. Men								
Gays	0.004	0.050	-0.015	0.146**	-0.111***	0.041	-0.151*	-0.099**	-0.246
	(.0624)	(.0389)	(.0883)	(.0481)	(.0217)	(.0481)	(.0740)	(.0334)	(.1849)
B. Wome	n								
Lesbians	-0.098	0.066**	0.175**	0.012	0.013	0.105	0.076	-0.014	0.349**
	(.0531)	(.0254)	(.0651)	(.0471)	(.0174)	(.0537)	(.0634)	(.0406)	(.1186)

► Table 5. Same-sex partnership and wages in the sampled countries

Note: The table presents, as decimal values, the wage premiums or penalties experienced by men and women in a same-sex partnership relative to their heterosexual counterparts, with the standard error given inside parentheses below each estimate. The dependent variable is the log of hourly wages. The regression model controls for age (through a quartic specification), education, occupation, employment in the public sector, hours worked, urban residence, and year fixed effects if more than two years of data are used in the analyses. Significant values are denoted by *, **, *** at the 10%, 5% and 1% significance levels respectively.

¹³ When we further checked the robustness of our results to the inclusion of having children as an additional explanatory variable, we obtained qualitatively similar findings. These additional estimates are available upon request.

Conclusion

This study has examined the disparities faced by members of same-sex couples in the labour market and considered legal frameworks that can be used to address unjustifiable gaps in that regard. While most earlier investigations of this topic have focused on developed countries, the labour market experiences of same-sex couples in developing countries remain underexplored. Our research opens up a broader perspective by analysing potential disparities experienced by coupled gay men and lesbians across nine different countries with regard to labour force participation, unemployment and self-employment rates, and wages.

Despite limitations such as a small sample size and the absence of a direct identifier for same-sex partnership in most of the countries studied, our findings tie in with those of previous studies. We observe that the members of same-sex couples in the countries in our sample tend to be younger and better educated than their heterosexual counterparts. Consistent with the existing literature, we find that coupled gay men participate in the labour market to a lesser extent while coupled lesbians are more likely to be in the labour market compared to, respectively, men and women with opposite-sex partners.

Our results indicate that in most of the countries studied, namely Brazil, Chile, Colombia, France and Mexico, coupled gay men face higher unemployment rates than their heterosexual counterparts. Conversely, coupled lesbians are less likely to be unemployed in Colombia and France. In terms of self-employment, our findings suggest that both coupled gay men and coupled lesbians in France are more likely to be self-employed than their opposite-sex counterparts. On the wage front, in line with previous research, coupled gay men in France, Thailand and the United States receive lower hourly wages, while coupled lesbians in Brazil, Chile and the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela enjoy a wage premium.

While the empirical evidence presented here provides insights into labour market disparities between same-sex and heterosexual couples across various countries, our findings cannot be extrapolated without caution. They reflect primarily the situation of same-sex couples, so they may not be representative of the broader population of lesbians and gay men in the countries studied. Our findings may also be influenced by disclosure bias, especially if same-sex couples in a better economic situation are more likely to live together. Further research in developing countries – drawing on larger samples and using improved methods to identify same-sex individuals – is necessary to attain a more comprehensive overview of the labour market situation of LGBT+ individuals.

Appendix I. Earnings gaps and unemployment risks based on sexual orientation: A literature review¹⁴

A.I.1. Introduction

One reason why we know little about the economic effects of sexual orientation is that data matching sexual orientation to economic outcomes is extremely rare (ILO 2022; OECD 2020; Drydakis 2019; Badgett and Frank 2007). The purpose of this appendix is to review studies of earnings gaps and unemployment risks based on sexual orientation, with an emphasis on those studies that compare the experiences of individuals in opposite-sex and same-sex relationships. The literature review offered here seeks to outline contemporary knowledge of the subject matter (Drydakis 2024; Ozeren 2014).

Although increasing numbers of people have started to self-identify as having a minority sexual orientation (that is, identifying as gay men or as lesbians, among other categories), at the time of writing in 2023, being a gay man or a lesbian was illegal in approximately 67 countries (Human Rights Watch, n.d.). Legal sanctions against same-sex relationships vary in scope and application; sentences range from fines to life imprisonment, and in some cases may even entail capital punishment (Human Rights Watch, n.d.). In general, Australia, Canada, the United States and the EU countries have the strongest measures in place for the protection of rights related to sexual orientation, including workplace anti-discrimination laws (ILO 2022; OECD 2020; Drydakis 2014), and some studies of these countries have examined labour market outcomes for gay men and lesbians (ILO 2022; FRA 2020; OECD 2020). However, in most of Africa and Asia, same-sex unions are illegal, which by default precludes the conduct of such studies (ILO 2022; OECD 2020; Drydakis 2014).

The OECD (2019) has indicated that the United States is the country with the largest proportion of the population who identify as having a minority sexual orientation (3.8 per cent), followed by New Zealand (3.3 per cent), Canada (3.3 per cent) and Australia (3.0 per cent). Surveys in the Member States of the United Nations, the EU and the OECD have shown that sexual orientation minority individuals face societal biases in everyday life, such as at school or work, when looking for housing, and in accessing healthcare or social services (ILO 2022; FRA 2020; OECD 2020). Previous review studies have noted how sexual orientation minority individuals reported a greater number of incidents of harassment and were more likely to report having suffered discriminatory treatment in the labour market (OECD 2020; Drydakis 2014). Additionally, they experienced a lower level of life satisfaction (ILO 2022; FRA 2020; OECD 2020) and poorer physical and psychological well-being than their heterosexual peers (Semlyen, Curtis and Varney 2019; Hafeez et al. 2017). The inadequate well-being of sexual minority people has been primarily attributed to the negative consequences of exclusion and biased treatment (Meyer 2003).

Having a minority sexual orientation can be associated with adverse economic outcomes (Badgett 2021; OECD 2020; Drydakis and Zimmermann 2020; Drydakis 2019, 2014). Available studies dealing with the United States have indicated that same-sex couples are more likely to be living in poverty than opposite-sex ones (Schneebaum and Badgett 2019). In the EU and the United States, members of same-sex couples have been found to experience higher levels of unemployment

¹⁴ By Nick Drydakis, Professor of Economics at Anglia Ruskin University, Cambridge, United Kingdom.

than their heterosexual counterparts (Fric 2021a; Gruberg and Madowitz 2020; Leppel 2009). Moreover, in OECD countries, job applicants who identified as gay men or as lesbians during the initial stage of the hiring process were discriminated against in favour of comparable heterosexual applicants (Flage 2020). Hiring discrimination potentially leads to increased rates of unemployment and poverty, which can adversely affect mental health and well-being (Drydakis 2019). In addition, in Australia, Canada, the EU, the United Kingdom and the United States, studies have indicated that men in a same-sex partnership receive lower earnings than comparable men in an opposite-sex partnership, while women from same-sex couples earned more than comparable women from heterosexual couples (Jepsen and Jepsen 2022; Bridges and Mann 2019; Waite 2015; La Nauze 2015). However, despite the higher earnings of lesbians, studies focusing on the United States, Canada and Europe have reported lower job satisfaction among them than among heterosexual women (Drydakis 2019). A similar pattern was found to hold for gay men (Drydakis 2019).

These findings imply that legislative protection constitutes but a small step towards improving the employment circumstances and general well-being of people with a minority sexual orientation, highlighting the need for additional policy interventions (Drydakis 2019). Owing to limited data sets on sexual orientation and labour outcomes, there are very few studies on the topic. Without data, pattern generalizations based on previous studies cannot be made for countries that have yet to be examined. Nevertheless, investigating such questions as whether earnings penalties for gay men and lesbians exist in other countries is of great importance for policy action. Because labour market discrimination based on gender and race is ubiquitous and requires policy intervention, it is likely that discrimination based on sexual orientation, too, is widespread and therefore warrants policymakers' attention (Drydakis 2019). Significantly, the scarcity of studies and the limited data sets make it difficult to examine how age, ethnicity, health, education, occupation, country and other key socio-economic, productivity and industrial characteristics affect the relationship between sexual orientation and labour market outcomes (Drydakis 2019).

The rest of the appendix is structured as follows. Section A.I.2 investigates how studies have identified and classified the sexual orientation of individuals in data sets. Section A.I.3 evaluates empirical approaches used to study earnings gaps and unemployment risks based on sexual orientation. Section A.I.4 discusses the earliest studies in the literature on earnings gaps based on sexual orientation, and offers an overview of relevant aggregated patterns. Studies on earnings gaps between the members of opposite-sex and same-sex couples, and on unemployment rates according to sexual orientation, are considered in sections A.I.5 and A.I.6 respectively. Finally, section A.I.7 reviews theoretical approaches for evaluating the earnings penalties for gay men and lesbians, and the risk of unemployment based on sexual orientation.

A.I.2. Strategies for identifying sexual orientation

Unlike the demographic characteristics of sex and ethnicity, which are easily captured and coded, sexual orientation is measured in several different ways; this makes it challenging to test for sexual orientation discrimination in employment (Drydakis 2014). In the literature, three broad strategies for identifying sexual orientation have been proposed: (a) responses to questions on the gender of partners (couple status); (b) self-identification as gay or lesbian, etc. (self-evaluation); and (c) responses to questions on the gender of former sex partners (sexual behaviour).

Although meta-analyses have indicated that the same qualitative patterns emerge when using all three identification strategies – that is, gay men receiving lower earnings than heterosexual

men, and lesbians being paid more than heterosexual women – the strategy chosen could affect the magnitude of estimated earnings differences (Klawitter 2015; Drydakis 2022a).

A critical advantage is gained by focusing on couples when examining earnings differences based on sexual orientation. If unexplained earnings gaps are to be interpreted as being potentially due to labour market discrimination, employers must be certain of an employee's sexual orientation. It is reasonable to assume that gay men and lesbians in relationships will be less likely and/or less willing than their single peers to conceal their sexual orientation in the workplace (Waite 2015). However, this approach has the drawback of not being informative about those individuals who are not living with a partner at the time of the interview (Dilmaghani 2018). Furthermore, the data constraints associated with such a sampling approach tend to cause the extent of earnings gaps to be overestimated (Carpenter 2008). Sexual orientation minority individuals in a same-sex partnership may be less anxious to pass for heterosexual, which may also increase their visibility and, consequently, the opportunities for discrimination (Waite 2015). If an employer is prejudiced against sexual orientation minorities, then individuals in same-sex couple arrangements can become an easy target for biased evaluations because their sexuality is more conspicuous. Studies focusing on couples when assessing earnings differences based on sexual orientation generally report wider earnings gaps because sexual orientation minority individuals are more noticeable in the workplace and face differential treatment (Drydakis 2022a; Carpenter 2008).

In contrast, studies that rely on self-reported classifications of sexual orientation, rather than on couple status, report the smallest estimated earnings differences (Klawitter 2015; Drydakis 2022a).

A.I.3. Empirical approaches used to study earnings gaps and unemployment risks based on sexual orientation

If discrimination occurs and results in similarly gualified and productive people being treated differently only because of their sexual orientation, one might expect to observe differences in earnings and unemployment levels (Badgett 1995). In the literature, the most common econometric approach for capturing the effects of earnings discrimination is to assess whether employees who are similar in all observable and economically relevant ways have similar labour market outcomes (Badgett 1995). Meta-analyses have found that the great majority of studies examining earnings differences based on sexual orientation used a basic ordinary least squares model of earnings determination, with the log of income as the dependent variable; this may be referred to as the "sexual orientation dummy variable approach" (Klawitter 2015; Drydakis 2022a). Separate equations for male and female employees take into account any differences in men's and women's labour market decisions and experiences (Badgett 1995). Independent variables include individual characteristics related to productivity, such as human capital and working experience, occupational heterogeneity, demographic characteristics and country of residence. The main effect of earnings discrimination, if any, is captured by the coefficient for a dummy variable indicating whether an individual is a gay man or a lesbian (according to the strategy adopted to identify sexual orientation). A statistically significant negative coefficient for a sexual orientation minority individual would imply discrimination in the form of lower earnings (Badgett 1995).

Only a few studies have used Oaxaca–Blinder decomposition and the Heckman selection correction technique (Klawitter 2015; Drydakis 2022a). An Oaxaca–Blinder approach involves dividing the earnings gap between sexual orientation majority and minority individuals into a part that is "explained" by group differences in productivity characteristics and a residual part that cannot be accounted for by such differences in earnings determinants, and which is used as a measure of earnings discrimination. The sexual orientation dummy variable approach and the Oaxaca–Blinder decomposition approach lead to the same conclusions about the presence or absence of earnings discrimination (Cahuc, Carcillo and Zylberberg 2014). On the other hand, a Heckman selection correction addresses the sample selection bias that arises because earnings are only observed if individuals make the decision to enter the workplace. Consistent estimators can be obtained by jointly estimating the decision to enter the workplace (selection equation) and the earnings equation, including the expected value of the selection equation residuals (Heckman 1979). Thus, using a Heckman selection correction can result in estimating lower earnings differences between sexual orientation majority individuals and those with a minority orientation (Klawitter 2015; Drydakis 2022a).

In the literature, comparable approaches (that is, the sexual orientation dummy variable approach, Oaxaca–Blinder decomposition and the Heckman selection correction technique) have been used to assess whether gay men and lesbians experience higher unemployment rates than equally productive heterosexual men and women (Fric 2021a; Gruberg and Madowitz 2020; Nyeck et al. 2019; Laurent and Mihoubi 2017; Drydakis 2012; Leppel 2009).

A.I.4. The earliest studies of earnings gaps based on sexual orientation, and aggregated patterns

The first study to examine earnings differences based on sexual orientation dealt with the United States (Badgett 1995). It drew on the 1989–91 rounds of the General Social Survey, which collected information on sexual behaviour with partners of either sex. In the sample, 698 respondents were heterosexual women and 34 were lesbian or bisexual women, while 901 respondents were heterosexual men and 47 were gay or bisexual men. The study found that gay and bisexual male employees earned between 11 and 27 per cent less than heterosexual male employees with the same experience, education, occupation, couple status and country of residence. There was also evidence that lesbian and bisexual women earned less than heterosexual women, by between 12 and 30 per cent, but this result was not consistently statistically significant across different specifications.

The second such study in the literature used data from the 1990 US census (Klawitter and Flatt 1998), collected from approximately 13,000 married couples and 6,800 same-sex couples. For the first time, the 1990 US census made it possible to identify same-sex couples by adding an "unmarried partner" category to the list of household relationships (Klawitter and Flatt 1998). In terms of identification strategy, if one partner was designated as the "householder" in the census, then the other partner could be identified as the householder's unmarried partner (Klawitter and Flatt 1998). At that time, same-sex couples could not marry in the United States; hence, married couples were by default opposite-sex couples. The study found that men in same-sex couples earned 30 per cent less than equally productive men in married (opposite-sex) couples, whereas women in same-sex couples earned 16 per cent more than equally productive women in married (opposite-sex) couples.

Since the first studies on this topic (Badgett 1995; Klawitter and Flatt 1998), approximately 60 papers have been published on earnings differences based on sexual orientation. Among these, two meta-analyses provide a picture of average patterns (Klawitter 2015; Drydakis 2022a). Klawitter (2015) studied the sexual orientation and earnings findings of 34 papers published between 1995 and 2012. Subsequently, Drydakis (2022a) conducted a meta-analysis of sexual orientation and earnings based on 24 papers published between 2012 and 2020.

In Klawitter's meta-analysis (2015), 69 per cent of the studies drew on US data. Sexual orientation was captured through couple status in 45 per cent of the studies, through sexual behaviour in 34 per cent and through self-identification in the rest. Some 73 per cent of the studies used annual or monthly earnings, while 27 per cent used hourly earnings. In addition, 63 per cent of the studies employed a sexual orientation dummy variable approach (as in Badgett 1995), 18 per cent adopted Oaxaca–Blinder decomposition approaches and 19 per cent used Heckman selection correction. Klawitter (2015) estimated an earnings penalty of 11 per cent for gay men and an earnings premium of 9 per cent for lesbians. On average, studies drawing on US data sets after the year 2000 found smaller earnings penalties for gay men, by about 4 to 7 percentage points, than those drawing on data sets covering periods before 2000. The earnings penalty for gay men was about 6 percentage points smaller for studies that used a measure of sexual identity than for studies using a couple status measure. Studies using sexual behaviour measures showed impacts similar in magnitude to those using couple status. Moreover, in those cases where Heckman selection correction was applied, lesbian women's earnings premiums were about 16 percentage points smaller.

In Drydakis (2022a), the United States was the focus of 30 per cent of the studies, followed by Canada (20 per cent), Australia (16.6 per cent) and the United Kingdom (13.3 per cent), with the remainder covering EU countries. In half of the studies, questions on same-sex living arrangements captured sexual orientation. The other half used questions on sexual behaviour and/or self-identification. Moreover, in 40 per cent of the studies, the earnings considered were annual earnings, while the remainder looked at hourly or weekly earnings. The Heckman selection correction technique was applied in 30 per cent of the studies. Drydakis (2022a) found that gay men's earnings were 6.8 per cent lower than those of comparable heterosexual men, whereas lesbians' earnings were 7.1 per cent higher than those of comparable heterosexual women. This meta-analysis found that, after 2010, the earnings penalty for gay men was lower by 5 percentage points than before 2010. Additionally, the US studies estimated penalties for gay men that were higher by 5.3 percentage points than those estimated by the studies covering all other countries, and also earnings premiums for lesbians that were higher by 6.2 percentage points in the United States compared with other countries. It was also found that the earnings penalty for gay men was higher by 4.5 percentage points in studies capturing sexual orientation through same-sex living arrangements than in those using sexual behaviour and/or self-identification for that purpose.

A.I.5. Earnings gaps based on sexual orientation in opposite-sex and same-sex couples

During the past decade, at least ten papers have examined potential earnings discrimination against individuals in same-sex couples (Jepsen and Jepsen 2022, 2017; Bridges and Mann 2019; Aksoy, Carpenter and Frank 2018; Humpert 2016; Waite 2015; La Nauze 2015; Hammarstedt, Ahmed and Andersson 2015; Ahmed, Andersson and Hammarstedt 2013; Laurent and Mihoubi 2012). The aforementioned studies cover the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, Germany, France, Sweden and Australia, drawing on data collected in various periods between 1996 and 2019. Half of the studies reported estimates based on the sexual orientation dummy variable approach, while the rest used Oaxaca–Blinder decompositions. In 20 per cent of the studies, Heckman selection correction techniques were employed. Consistent patterns emerged indicating that men in same-sex couples experienced approximately 9.4 per cent lower earnings than comparable men in opposite-sex couples. On the other hand, it was consistently found that women in same-sex couples earned approximately 7.9 per cent more than comparable women in opposite-sex couples are reviewed in greater depth below.

In the United States, Jepsen and Jepsen (2022) used American Community Survey data covering the period 2000–19, and found that, in 2001, men in same-sex couples experienced 12.4 per cent lower annual earnings than comparable men in opposite-sex couples, while in 2018 they were earning 11.7 per cent less per year than their heterosexual counterparts. In 2001, women in same-sex couples experienced 16 per cent higher earnings per year than comparable women in opposite-sex couples, while in 2018 they were earning 7.8 per cent more per year than their heterosexual counterparts. The authors found no evidence that the earnings of men in same-sex couples were improving relative to men in opposite-sex couples. For women in same-sex couples, they observed mixed evidence of convergence relative to women in opposite-sex couples. The earnings gap between women in same-sex and opposite-sex couples narrowed between 2001 and 2008, though the premium for women in same-sex couples declined slightly in later years (that is, from 2009 to 2018). In an earlier study of the same country, lepsen and lepsen (2017) also drew on American Community Survey data, in this case covering the period 2007–11 for self-employed individuals. They found that men in same-sex couples experienced 20.4 per cent lower annual earnings than comparable men in opposite-sex couples, and that women in same-sex couples earned 21.2 per cent more per year than their heterosexual counterparts.

In Canada, Waite (2015) used data from the 2001 and 2006 censuses and the 2011 National Household Survey, finding that men in same-sex couples earned 7.2 per cent less per week than comparable men in opposite-sex couples in 2001; 6.3 per cent less in 2006; and 6.7 per cent less in 2011. In contrast, women in same-sex couples earned 6.6 per cent more per week than comparable women in opposite-sex couples in 2001, 9.2 per cent more in 2006 and 6.9 per cent more in 2011. The author concluded that there was no evidence of earnings gaps having attenuated for gay men, and that there had been only a small reduction of the wage gap for lesbians, in both cases relative to heterosexual men. The lesbian earnings premium, vis-á-vis heterosexual women, did not appear at initial labour market entry; rather, it developed with time. Earnings gaps were larger for younger gay men than for older ones, which potentially suggested a "coming-out penalty" in the labour market. One explanation for this phenomenon advanced by the author is that younger gay men may be less concerned about passing for heterosexual, which may induce them to make occupational choices that are gender non-conforming and less highly paid (that is, to take up female-oriented occupations). It may also increase their visibility, exposing younger gay men more frequently to discrimination by those who have a preference for working with heterosexual people (Waite 2015).

In the United Kingdom, Aksoy, Carpenter and Frank (2018) drew on data from the 2012–14 Integrated Household Surveys, finding that men in same-sex couples experienced 2.7 per cent lower weekly earnings than comparable men in opposite-sex couples, although the difference was statistically insignificant. On the other hand, women in same-sex couples earned 5.4 per cent more per week than comparable women in opposite-sex couples. Also in the United Kingdom, Bridges and Mann (2019) used Labour Force Survey data covering the period 2010–15. The authors found that men in same-sex couples experienced 3.8 per cent lower hourly earnings than comparable men in opposite-sex women in same-sex couples earned 5.8 per cent more per hour than their heterosexual counterparts.

In Germany, drawing on data from the 2009 wave of the Mikrozensus, Humpert (2016) concluded that men in same-sex couples experienced 5.5 per cent lower annual earnings than comparable men in opposite-sex couples, whereas women in same-sex couples earned 9.6 per cent more per year than comparable heterosexual women.

In France, Laurent and Mihoubi (2012) studied Employment Survey data covering the period 1996–2007. They found that, in the private sector, men in same-sex couples experienced 6.5 per

cent lower monthly earnings than comparable men in opposite-sex couples. In the public sector, men in same-sex couples earned 5.8 per cent less per month than their heterosexual counterparts. By contrast, in the private sector, women in same-sex couples received 2.1 per cent higher monthly earnings than comparable women in opposite-sex couples. In the public sector, women in same-sex couples earned 0.3 per cent more per month than their heterosexual counterparts, although this difference was statistically insignificant.

In Sweden, Ahmed, Andersson and Hammarstedt (2013) drew on 2007 data from the Longitudinal Integration Database for Health Insurance and Labour Market Studies (LISA). They found that men in same-sex couples experienced 11 per cent lower annual earnings than comparable men in opposite-sex couples. Moreover, women in same-sex couples earned 6.7 per cent more per year than their heterosexual counterparts, a difference that was statistically insignificant. In a subsequent study, Hammarstedt, Ahmed and Andersson (2015) drew on the results from a nationwide Swedish survey on public attitudes towards gay men and lesbians, conducted in 1999, and again on 2007 data from the LISA database. They found that men in same-sex couples experienced 18.6 per cent lower annual earnings than comparable men in opposite-sex couples, whereas women in same-sex couples earned 0.6 per cent more per year than comparable heterosexual women. However, in the latter case the difference was statistically insignificant.

Finally, in Australia, La Nauze (2015) used data from the Household Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) Survey covering the period 2001–10, and found that men in same-sex couples experienced 13.6 per cent lower hourly earnings than comparable men in opposite-sex couples, whereas women in same-sex couples earned 12.8 per cent more per hour than their heterosexual counterparts.

A.I.6. Unemployment risks based on sexual orientation

The literature generally sheds little light on differences in unemployment status based on sexual orientation. Only a few studies have investigated such gaps, namely in the United States, the EU countries and South Africa (Fric 2021a; Gruberg and Madowitz 2020; Nyeck et al. 2019; Laurent and Mihoubi 2017; Drydakis 2012; Leppel 2009). These studies covered the period between 1996 and 2019, and most of them focused on couple status as the strategy for identifying same-sex partnership. All studies used the "sexual orientation dummy variable approach" to capture unemployment differences based on sexual orientation. However, each study has reported its findings differently. Hence, consistent presentation and comparison of the findings related to unemployment (as was the case for earnings patterns) cannot be provided.

In the United States, Gruberg and Madowitz (2020) used Current Population Survey data from the period 2014–19. They found that same-sex couples experienced higher unemployment rates than opposite-sex couples for nearly every year between 2014 and 2019. For instance, in 2014, same-sex couples faced an unemployment rate of 4.2 per cent, compared with 3.8 per cent for opposite-sex couples. In 2019, same-sex couples faced an unemployment rate of 2.7 per cent, compared with 2.2 per cent for opposite-sex couples. Examining data from the 2000 Decennial Census, Leppel (2009) found that 3.3 per cent of men in same-sex couples in the United States were unemployed, whereas it was the case of 2.1 per cent of men in married opposite-sex couples. On the other hand, 2.9 per cent of women in same-sex couples. The highest unemployment rate was observed among men in an unmarried opposite-sex relationship. The study concluded that discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation appeared to drive up the unemployment rate among same-sex partners relative to married opposite-sex partners. Employment probabilities

were very similar for gay men and lesbians. In addition, Leppel (2009) found that anti-discrimination laws had a positive effect on the unemployment rate of same-sex partners. This may suggest an insufficient willingness among employers to hire the many gay men and lesbians who move to states with such laws.

In France, Laurent and Mihoubi (2017), drawing on Employment Survey data for the period 1996–2009, found that men in same-sex couples experienced an unemployment rate of 4.7 per cent, compared with 1.5 per cent for men in opposite-sex couples. In addition, men in same-sex couples had a likelihood of unemployment that was 1.6 percentage points higher than that of comparable men in opposite-sex couples.

Fric (2021a) used EU Labour Force Survey data for the period 2008–15, focusing on the following countries: Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Croatia, Cyprus, Czechia, Estonia, France, Germany, Hungary, Ireland, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovenia, Spain, United Kingdom. The author found that men in same-sex couples experienced a 31.1 per cent higher unemployment rate than comparable men in opposite-sex couples. Women in same-sex couples recorded 4 per cent higher unemployment than comparable women in opposite-sex couples, although the difference was statistically insignificant. The study found that men in same-sex couples experienced longer spells of joblessness than comparable men in opposite-sex couples, whereas women in same-sex couples. Similarly, Fric (2021b) examined EU Labour Force Survey data from the years 2008–16, this time focusing on Belgium, France, Germany, Ireland, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Poland and Slovenia. The study found that those in male and female same-sex couples experienced a shorter employment tenure than members of opposite-sex couples.

In South Africa, Nyeck et al. (2019), drawing on data from the 2011 census, found that the unemployment rates for same-sex Black African, Coloured and White households stood at 30.9 per cent, 16.7 per cent and 4.2 per cent respectively, compared with 26.4 per cent, 14.1 per cent and 3.8 per cent for opposite-sex households from these race groups. This indicates that those in same-sex couples experienced higher unemployment rates than opposite-sex households.

In Greece, Drydakis (2012) applied a Heckman selection correction model to data from the 2008– 09 Athens Area Study and found that gay and bisexual men experienced probabilities of unemployment that were, respectively, 8.1 and 8.8 percentage points higher than those of equally productive heterosexual men. These findings suggested that sexual orientation discrimination could explain the differences in hiring between equally qualified gay and heterosexual men.

A.I.7. Earnings patterns and unemployment risks for gay men and lesbians: Possible reasons and theoretical considerations

A.1.7.a. Earnings penalties for gay men

Historical, sociological and psychological research demonstrates the existence of homophobia, heterosexism and sexual prejudice, and the effects that such attitudes have in the everyday experiences of sexual orientation minority individuals. The term "homophobia" is used to label heterosexual individuals' dread of being in close quarters with homosexual individuals, and also potential self-loathing among the latter (Weinberg 1972). Distastes and phobia focus on homosexual people's behaviour, lifestyle and culture. "Heterosexism" is used as a term analogous to sexism and racism, describing an ideological system that denies, denigrates and stigmatizes

any non-heterosexual form of behaviour, identity, relationship or community (Herek 1990). The term highlights the parallels between anti-gay sentiment and other forms of prejudice, such as racism and sexism. "Sexual prejudice" refers to all negative attitudes based on sexual orientation; however, the prejudice is almost always directed at people who engage in homosexual behaviour (Herek 2000).

The question of whether discrimination drives inferior labour market outcomes for minority population groups has been attracting the attention of economists for decades (Badgett 2020). As posited by the "taste for discrimination" theory (Becker 1957, 1993), employers might want to maintain a physical distance from certain minority groups because they dislike interacting with them. Under this theory, "discrimination coefficients" capture the influence of characteristics unrelated to productivity, such as homophobic attitudes against gay men. According to the theory, if employers are homophobic, they may pay minority individuals lower wages for similar productivity in order to compensate for the psychological loss they experience in associating with members of such groups. Hence, the labour market penalties for gay men can be expected to be directly linked to the strength of employers' antipathy towards minority populations (Charles and Guryan 2008).

The statistical theory of discrimination (Phelps 1972; Arrow 1974, 1998) posits that the use of average group characteristics to predict individuals' productivity and set corresponding wages can lead to an incorrect evaluation of the productivity of workers who are atypical of their minority demographic characteristic. Statistical discrimination is usually discussed in relation to discrimination against women and ethnic minorities. In these cases, gender roles and cultural norms may lead to differences in average education and productivity, leaving the minority group at a disadvantage. This is not the case for gay men, who are usually well educated (Badgett, Carpenter and Sansone 2021). However, since gay men enjoy lower societal approval than heterosexual people (OECD 2020), potential biases might cause employers to predict differences in labour market commitment and labour behaviour between heterosexual and gay men, which tie in with standard models of statistical discrimination (Phelps 1972; Arrow 1974, 1998). Accordingly, if employers have strong misgivings about gay men's productivity and commitment, they may consider employing them at a lower salary. These actions are not motivated specifically by distaste towards a class of individuals, but rather are based on what the employers believe to be valid inferences about productivity (Pager and Karafin 2009). According to statistical discrimination theory, if gay men do not conform to traditional gender roles related to masculinity and leadership that are perceived to boost employees' performance, such a situation could result in unfavourable evaluations and earnings penalties (Drydakis 2015a; Blandford 2003). Studies have found that such penalties for gay men may stem from employers' distastes and uncertainties over their credentials (Baert 2014; Drydakis 2012).

However, other explanations for the earnings differentials faced by gay men are also possible. Under the economic theory of specialization (Becker 1981), expectations of marriage and acceptance of traditional gender roles impinge on the relationship between sexual orientation and earnings. Young gay men may invest less in human capital formation than their heterosexual counterparts because of rational, sexual orientation-based expectations about their future partners and domestic arrangements. Some studies have argued that gay men do not expect to support a partner and children, so they will invest less in labour market-specific human capital than heterosexual men, which in turn reduces their earnings (Black et al. 2003). Since gay men are less likely to have children on average, they may invest in human capital to a lesser extent, in particular because their expected future investments in children are lower (Black et al. 2003). Similarly, other studies have argued that gay men choose levels of work effort that differ from those of heterosexual men because of their different budgetary constraints (Berg and Lien 2002).

A.1.7.b. Earnings premiums for lesbians

The earnings premiums observed for lesbians in most countries are something of a puzzle (Drydakis 2014). On the one hand, every qualitative study suggests that lesbians face prejudices in the labour market (Drydakis 2014). Field studies on access to job vacancies indicate that lesbians were discriminated against during the initial stage of the hiring process to a greater extent than heterosexual women (Drydakis 2015a). Job satisfaction studies also suggest that lesbians are less contented with their jobs than heterosexual women (Drydakis 2015b). On the other hand, most country studies have found that lesbians earn more than heterosexual women with comparable skills and experience (Klawitter 2015; Drydakis 2022a). The observation that lesbian employees enjoy an earnings premium vis-à-vis their heterosexual female counterparts might seem inconsistent with the notion that employers discriminate on the basis of sexual orientation (Becker 1957, 1993; Phelps 1972; Arrow 1974, 1998). However, this pattern is consistent with theories of human capital accumulation and specialization within the household (Jepsen 2007; Elmslie and Tebaldi 2007; Black et al. 2003).

The Becker (1965) model posits that, in traditional households, men will devote more time and effort to market production, while women will focus on household production. There is evidence to suggest that lesbians may invest more heavily in market-oriented human capital by choosing to complete their school education and to embark subsequently on a university course that leads to higher earnings and longer working hours, with such choices positively influencing their workplace outcomes (Jepsen 2007; Elmslie and Tebaldi 2007; Black et al. 2003). Furthermore, a peripheral explanation for the lesbian earnings premium is that women with children earn less than women without children (Antecol and Steinberger 2013; Waldfogel 1998). Lesbians are less likely to have children than married women, so it makes sense for them to earn more because of their commitment to pursuing their career (Baert 2014; Waldfogel 1998). In addition, lesbians may show greater dedication to the labour market because it is less probable that they will engage with a higher-earning (male) partner who would provide for them (Antecol and Steinberger 2013). Hence, employers may be more interested in promoting lesbians, who are less likely to move in and out of the labour market, a factor that contributes to their wage premium. It seems that labour markets financially compensate women who invest their lives in their careers (Drydakis 2011).

Arguments focusing on lesbian women's earnings premiums in relation to their masculine characteristics, which stereotypically characterize lesbians as demonstrating leadership, have also been invoked to explain their labour market experiences (Drydakis 2011; Clain and Leppel 2001). Various studies indicate that employers, colleagues and consumers may prefer the personality characteristics of men, and that lesbians may exhibit more of those characteristics than heterosexual women (Clain and Leppel 2001). Evidence suggests that, as far as women are concerned, professional skills are not always sufficient to signal authority and competence, and that masculine characteristics, stereotypically associated with lesbians, can fulfil that external signalling function in the workplace (Drydakis 2011; Badgett and Frank 2007; Clain and Leppel 2001). The higher earnings among lesbians may, therefore, reflect discrimination in favour of masculine traits (Drydakis 2011; Badgett and Frank 2007). Indeed, lesbians tend to self-select into male-dominated occupations that offer higher salaries (Drydakis 2011; Badgett and Frank 2007; Clain and Leppel 2001). Finally, there are indications that lesbians who are open about their sexual orientation respond to the threat of discrimination by working harder. It has been suggested that lesbians may be able to overcome the stigma of their sexual orientation if they are sufficiently educated and productive (Clain and Leppel 2001; Klawitter and Flatt 1998).

Whether a biased treatment of lesbians at the hiring stage can lead to earnings premiums later in their careers is a moot point (Drydakis 2014). There are no quantitative studies on how gender identity and personality characteristics may affect labour market prospects for lesbians; hence, it is still not clear whether lesbian employees possess unobservable characteristics that enhance job advancement and earnings potential. Interesting findings could well be revealed by examining the interactions between gender identity characteristics, personality traits, strategies for coping with discrimination, commitment to work and labour market prospects related to sexual orientation (Drydakis 2014).

A.I.7.c. Unemployment risks among sexual orientation minorities

Since sexual orientation may affect whether an individual is hired or fired, it clearly has an impact on their employment status (Becker 1957, 1993; Phelps 1972; Arrow 1974, 1998). As previously discussed, according to the "taste for discrimination" theory (Becker 1957), if distastes for sexual orientation minority individuals are strong enough, employers may decide not to employ them in their firms. Moreover, under the statistical discrimination theory (Phelps 1972; Arrow 1974, 1998), if employers are highly uncertain about the productivity and commitment of gay men and lesbians, they may end up not hiring them.

It has also been argued that the lower earnings received by gay men could reduce the "shadow price" of their time: they are likely to use more time-intensive search methods, increasing the probability of unemployment (Leppel 2009; Flanagan 1978). Moreover, gay men and lesbians may seek jobs that are less likely to expose them to adverse working conditions related to discrimination and harassment (Klawitter and Flatt 1998). A standard vacancy description can lead to self-elimination by applicants who do not conform to the required stereotypes (Fric 2021a), and jobseekers may avoid applying for openings where they believe that they would face discrimination. During the review and selection of CVs, equally gualified gay men and lesbian women applicants may be assessed less positively, rejected or invited to an interview only as a backup option (Drydakis 2009, 2022b; Fric 2021a). Moreover, during the job interview, sexual orientation minority applicants may be treated less helpfully, subjected to interpersonal discrimination or even be downright rejected by potential employers (Fric 2021a). A firm may offer gay men and lesbians less attractive terms, or no employment at all (Fric 2021a). Hence, a limited availability of acceptable work environments, coupled with bias during the hiring stage, could lengthen the expected duration of job search, which further increases the probability of unemployment for gay men and lesbians (Leppel 2009).

Moreover, discriminatory attitudes make jobs more difficult to find, so some sexual orientation minority individuals may become discouraged and drop out of the labour force (Leppel 2009). In addition, in male same-sex couples there is no female partner to take on the traditional role of homemaker; one male partner thus has to act as the primary caregiver and is less likely to participate in the labour force (Tebaldi and Elmslie 2006). Evidence indicates that institutional constraints, such as a lack of employment protection, domestic partnership benefits and legal marriage, reduce the probability of gay men and lesbians being full-time homemakers (Leppel 2009; Giddings 2003).

References (Appendix I.)

Ahmed, Ali, Lina Andersson, and Mats Hammarstedt. 2013. "Sexual Orientation and Full-Time Monthly Earnings, by Public and Private Sector: Evidence from Swedish Register Data". *Review of Economics of the Household* 11: 83–108.

Aksoy, Cevat G., Christopher S. Carpenter, and Jeff Frank. 2018. "Sexual Orientation and Earnings: New Evidence from the United Kingdom". *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 71 (1): 242–272.

Antecol, Heather, and Michael D. Steinberger. 2013. "Labour Supply Differences between Married Heterosexual Women and Partnered Lesbians: A Semi-Parametric Decomposition Approach". *Economic Inquiry* 51 (1): 783–805.

Arrow, Kenneth J. 1974. "The Theory of Discrimination". In *Discrimination in Labor Markets*, edited by Orley Ashenfelter and Albert Rees, 3–42. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

———. 1998. "What Has Economics to Say About Racial Discrimination?" *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 12 (2): 91–100.

Badgett, M.V. Lee. 1995. "The Wage Effects of Sexual Orientation Discrimination". *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 48 (4): 726–739.

———. 2020. *The Economic Case for LGBT Equality: Why Fair and Equal Treatment Benefits Us All*. Boston, MA: Beacon Press.

Badgett, M.V. Lee, Christopher S. Carpenter, and Dario Sansone. 2021. "LGBTQ Economics". *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 35 (2): 141–170.

Badgett, M.V. Lee, and Jefferson Frank. 2007. *Sexual Orientation Discrimination: An International Perspective*. New York: Routledge.

Baert, Stijn. 2014. "Career Lesbians: Getting Hired for Not Having Kids?" *Industrial Relations Journal* 45 (6): 543–561.

Becker, Gary S. 1957. The Economics of Discrimination. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

———. 1965. "A Theory of the Allocation of Time". The Economic Journal 75 (299): 493–517.

———. 1981. A Treatise on the Family. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

———. 1993. "Nobel Lecture: The Economic Way of Looking at Behavior". *Journal of Political Economy* 101 (3): 385–409.

Berg, Nathan, and Donald Lien. 2002. "Measuring the Effect of Sexual Orientation on Income: Evidence of Discrimination?" *Contemporary Economic Policy* 20 (4): 394–414.

Black, Dan A., Hoda R. Makar, Seth G. Sanders, and Lowell J. Taylor. 2003. "The Earnings Effects of Sexual Orientation". *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 56 (3): 449–469.

Blandford, John M. 2003. "The Nexus of Sexual Orientation and Gender in the Determination of Earnings". *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 56 (4): 622–642.

Bridges, Sarah, and Samuel Mann. 2019. "Sexual Orientation, Legal Partnerships and Wages in Britain". *Work, Employment and Society* 33 (6): 1020–1038.

Cahuc, Pierre, Stéphane Carcillo, and André Zylberberg. 2014. *Labor Economics*. 2nd ed. Translated by William McCuaig. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Carpenter, Christopher S. 2008. "Sexual Orientation, Work, and Income in Canada". *Canadian Journal of Economics* 41 (4): 1239–1261.

Charles, Kerwin Kofi, and Jonathan Guryan. 2008. "Prejudice and Wages: An Empirical Assessment of Becker's 'The Economics of Discrimination". *Journal of Political Economy* 116 (5): 773–809.

Clain, Suzanne Heller, and Karen Leppel. 2001. "An Investigation into Sexual Orientation Discrimination as an Explanation for Wage Differences". *Applied Economics* 33 (1): 37–47.

Dilmaghani, Maryam. 2018. "Sexual Orientation, Labour Earnings, and Household Income in Canada". *Journal of Labor Research* 39: 41–55.

Drydakis, Nick. 2009. "Sexual Orientation Discrimination in the Labour Market". *Labour Economics* 16 (4): 364–372.

———. 2011. "Women's Sexual Orientation and Labor Market Outcomes in Greece". *Feminist Economics* 17 (1): 89–117.

———. 2012. "Sexual Orientation and Labour Relations: New Evidence from Athens, Greece". *Applied Economics* 44 (20): 2653–2665.

-----. 2014. "Sexual Orientation and Labor Market Outcomes". IZA World of Labor. December 2014.

———. 2015a. "Measuring Sexual Orientation Discrimination in the UK's Labour Market. A Field Experiment". *Human Relations* 68 (11): 1769–1796.

———. 2015b. "Effect of Sexual Orientation on Job Satisfaction: Evidence from Greece". *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society* 54 (1): 162–187.

———. 2019. "Sexual Orientation and Labor Market Outcomes" (version 2). IZA World of Labor.

———. 2022a. "Sexual Orientation and Earnings: A Meta-Analysis 2012–2020". *Journal of Population Economics* 35 (2): 409–440.

———. 2022b. "Sexual Orientation Discrimination in the Labor Market against Gay Men". *Review of Economics of the Household* 20: 1027–1058.

———. 2024. "The Economics of Being LGBTQ. A Review: 2015–2020". In *The Routledge Handbook of LGBTQ Identity in Organizations and Society*, edited by Julie A. Gedro and Tonette S. Rocco, 200–213. London: Routledge.

Drydakis, Nick, and Klaus F. Zimmermann. 2020. "Sexual Orientation, Gender Identity and Labour Market Outcomes: New Patterns and Insights". *International Journal of Manpower* 40 (6): 621–628.

Elmslie, Bruce, and Edinaldo Tebaldi. 2007. "Sexual Orientation and Labor Market Discrimination". *Journal of Labor Research* 28: 436–453.

Flage, Alexandre. 2020. "Discrimination against Gays and Lesbians in Hiring Decisions: A Meta-Analysis". *International Journal of Manpower* 41 (6): 671–691.

Flanagan, Robert J. 1978. "Discrimination Theory, Labor Turnover, and Racial Unemployment Differentials". *Journal of Human Resources* 13 (2): 187–207.

FRA (European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights). 2020. A Long Way to Go for LGBTI Equality.

Fric, Karel. 2021a. "Do Gays and Lesbians Experience More Frequent and Longer Unemployment?" *Economics and Sociology* 14 (3): 105–126.

———. 2021b. "Employer Tenure in Gays, Lesbians and their Straight Counterparts". *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion* 40 (5): 591–614.

Giddings, Lisa. 2003. "But ... Who Mows the Lawn?: The Division of Labor in Same-Sex Households". In *Women, Family, and Work: Writings on the Economics of Gender*, edited by Karine S. Moe, 85–102. Oxford: Blackwell.

Gruberg, Sharita, and Michael Madowitz. 2020. "Same-Sex Couples Experience Higher Unemployment Rates throughout an Economic Recovery". Center for American Progress. 5 May 2020.

Hafeez, Hudaisa, Muhammad Zeshan, Muhammad A. Tahir, Nusrat Jahan, and Sadiq Naveed. 2017. "Health Care Disparities among Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Youth: A Literature Review". *Cureus* 9 (4): e1184.

Hammarstedt, Mats, Ali M. Ahmed, and Lina Andersson. 2015. "Sexual Prejudice and Labor Market Outcomes for Gays and Lesbians: Evidence from Sweden". *Feminist Economics* 21 (1): 90–109.

Heckman, James J. 1979. "Sample Selection Bias as a Specification Error". *Econometrica* 47 (1): 153–161.

Herek, Gregory M. 1990. "The Context of Anti-Gay Violence: Notes on Cultural and Psychological Heterosexism". *Journal of Interpersonal Violence* 5 (3): 316–333.

———. 2000. "The Psychology of Sexual Prejudice". *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 9 (1): 19–22.

Human Rights Watch. n.d. "Outlawed: 'The Love That Dare Not Speak Its Name". https://features. hrw.org/features/features/lgbt_laws/single.html.

Humpert, Stephan. 2016. "Somewhere Over the Rainbow: Sexual Orientation and Earnings in Germany". *International Journal of Manpower* 37 (1): 69–98.

———. 2022. Inclusion of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Intersex and Queer (LGBTIQ+) Persons in the World of Work: A Learning Guide.

Jepsen, Christopher, and Lisa K. Jepsen. 2017. "Self-Employment, Earnings, and Sexual Orientation". *Review of Economics of the Household* 15: 287–305.

———. 2022. "Convergence Over Time or Not? U.S. Wages by Sexual Orientation, 2001–2019". *Labour Economics* 74: 102086

Jepsen, Lisa K. 2007. "Comparing the Earnings of Cohabiting Lesbians, Cohabiting Heterosexual Women, and Married Women: Evidence from the 2000 Census". *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society* 46 (4): 699–727.

Klawitter, Marieka. 2015. "Meta-Analysis of the Effects of Sexual Orientation on Earnings". *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society* 54 (1): 4–32.

Klawitter, Marieka M., and Victor Flatt. 1998. "The Effects of State and Local Antidiscrimination Policies on Earnings for Gays and Lesbians". *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management* 17 (4): 658–686.

La Nauze, Andrea. 2015. "Sexual Orientation-Based Wage Gaps in Australia: The Potential Role of Discrimination and Personality". *Economic and Labour Relations Review* 26 (1): 60–81.

Laurent, Thierry, and Ferhat Mihoubi. 2012. "Sexual Orientation and Wage Discrimination in France: The Hidden Side of the Rainbow". *Journal of Labor Research* 33 (4): 487–527.

———. 2017. "Sexual Orientation, Unemployment and Participation: Are Gays Less Employable than Straights?" *Journal of Labor Research* 38 (1): 1–44.

Leppel, Karen. 2009. "Labour Force Status and Sexual Orientation". Economica 76 (301): 197–207.

Meyer, Ilan H. 2003. "Prejudice, Social Stress, and Mental Health in Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Populations: Conceptual Issues and Research Evidence". *Psychological Bulletin* 129 (5): 674–697.

Nyeck, S.N., Debra Shepherd, Joshua Sehoole, Lihle Ngcobozi, and Kerith J. Conron. 2019. "The Economic Cost of LGBT Stigma and Discrimination in South Africa". University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA) School of Law, Williams Institute.

OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development). 2019. *Society at a Glance 2019: OECD Social Indicators*.

———. 2020. Over the Rainbow? The Road to LGBTI Inclusion.

Ozeren, Emir. 2014. "Sexual Orientation Discrimination in the Workplace: A Systematic Review of Literature". *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences* 109: 1203–1215.

Pager, Devah, and Diana Karafin. 2009. "Bayesian Bigot? Statistical Discrimination, Stereotypes, and Employer Decision Making". *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 621 (1): 70–93.

Phelps, Edmund S. 1972. "The Statistical Theory of Racism and Sexism". *American Economic Review* 62 (4): 659–661.

Schneebaum, Alyssa, and M.V. Lee Badgett. 2019. "Poverty in US Lesbian and Gay Couple Households". *Feminist Economics* 25 (1): 1–30.

Semlyen, J., T.J. Curtis, and J. Varney. 2019. "Sexual Orientation Identity in Relation to Unhealthy Body Mass Index: Individual Participant Data Meta-Analysis of 93 429 Individuals from 12 UK Health Surveys". *Journal of Public Health* 42 (1): 98–106.

Tebaldi, Edinaldo, and Bruce Elmslie. 2006. "Sexual Orientation and Labour Supply". *Applied Economics* 38 (5): 549–562.

Waite, Sean. 2015. "Does it Get Better? A Quasi-Cohort Analysis of Sexual Minority Wage Gaps". *Social Science Research* 54: 113–130.

36 ILO Working Paper 131

Waldfogel, Jane. 1998. "Understanding the 'Family Gap' in Pay for Women with Children". *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 12 (1): 137–156.

Weinberg, George. 1972. Society and the Healthy Homosexual. New York: St. Martin's Press.

Appendix II. Estimates of other explanatory variables

In this appendix, we report the estimates of other explanatory variables from the estimation of equations (1) and (2) in Chapter 2. In addition to a constant (referred to as the "intercept" in the tables below), equation (1) includes these explanatory variables: age, education, urban residence and occupation (occupation is only added for self-employment). We use three age categories to capture differences in work experience both linearly and non-linearly: 18–34 years, 35–54 years and 45–64 years, with the reference category being those aged between 18 and 34 years. As for education, individuals are categorized into three groups: those with secondary education or below, those with upper secondary education and those with education beyond upper secondary. The reference category is those with secondary education or below. We also take urban residence into account. The excluded category comprises individuals residing in a rural area. We classify occupations into five categories: managerial and professional occupations; services; skilled agricultural; skilled machinery; and basic occupations. The reference category is basic occupations.

The regression models (equation (2)) take account of age, education, urban residence, occupation, hours worked and employment in the public sector. With regard to age, we follow Lemieux (2006) and estimate the equation with a quartic polynomial to take years of experience into account. Hours worked are divided into three categories: below 20 hours, 21 to 40 hours, and above 40 hours. The reference category is those working below 20 hours. "Public sector" is a binary variable equal to 1 if the individual works in a public job and 0 otherwise. The other variables are the same as for equation 1.

A.II.1. Labour force participation

▶ Table A.II.1. Same-sex partnership and labour force participation rate

	Argentina	Brazil	Chile	Colombia	France	Mexico	Thailand	United States	Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
I. Men									
Gays	0.264***	0.339***	0.379***	0.358***	0.663***	0.452**	0.367***	0.573***	0.209***
	(.0577)	(.0522)	(.1006)	(.0756)	(.0808)	(.1113)	(.1085)	(.0652)	(.0527)
Age 35 to 54	0.683*	0.849***	0.900	0.782***	0.918	0.805***	1.111	1.035	1.129
	(.1116)	(.0238)	(.0964)	(.0507)	(.0916)	(.0447)	(.0884)	(.0621)	(.2913)
Age 45 to 64	0.148***	0.190***	0.308***	0.196***	0.201***	0.171***	0.160***	0.324***	0.210***
	(.0194)	(.0043)	(.0267)	(.0104)	(.0155)	(.0079)	(.0106)	(.0155)	(.0423)
Education: Upper secondary	1.484***	1.689***	1.302***	0.945	1.633***	1.202***	0.877***	0.939	0.994
	(.1109)	(.0291)	(.0698)	(.0356)	(.0766)	(.0434)	(.0270)	(.0633)	(.12180)
Education: Beyond upper secondary	2.642***	2.420***	2.432***	1.080	4.266***	1.016	0.607***	1.799***	0.960
	(.2939)	(.0660)	(.1796)	(.0457)	(.2481)	(.0352)	(.0165)	(.1242)	(.1283)
Urban residence	n.d.	1.559***	1.182**	0.747***	1.075	0.850***	0.715***	1.280***	n.d.
	n.d.	(.0218)	(.0661)	(.0309)	(.0577)	(.0268)	(.0148)	(.0440)	n.d.
Intercept	45.367***	11.994***	26.611***	63.809***	9.929***	46.363***	71.623***	10.818***	58.630***
	(5.992)	(.280)	(2.664)	(4.080)	(.9303)	(2.390)	(4.825)	(.8864)	(11.77)
Number of observations	33 252	383 426	52 829	231 525	28 320	245 459	255 382	59 216	10 850
II. Women									
Lesbians	3.896***	4.032***	5.443***	6.073***	1.844***	4.454***	1.918**	1.897***	2.177***
	(.7192)	(.3609)	(1.136)	(1.155)	(.3331)	(.9021)	(.4636)	(.1810)	(.3366)
Age 35 to 54	1.366***	1.297***	0.928	1.325***	1.405***	1.404***	1.427***	1.027	1.887***
	(.0671)	(.0167)	(.0536)	(.0257)	(.0777)	(.0229)	(.0317)	(.0308)	(.1137)
Age 45 to 64	0.821***	0.651***	0.598***	0.773***	0.703***	1.004	0.802***	0.786***	1.216***
	(.0355)	(.0075)	(.0234)	(.0137)	(.0302)	(.0152)	(.0153)	(.0198)	(.0647)
Education: Upper secondary	1.737***	1.946***	1.501***	1.382***	2.621***	1.281***	0.988	2.372***	1.451***
	(.0688)	(.0207)	(.0488)	(.0244)	(.1031)	(.0201)	(.0190)	(.1175)	(.0767)
Education: Beyond upper secondary	5.956***	4.280***	5.208***	3.422***	5.313***	2.649***	1.332***	4.862***	3.312***
	(.3119)	(.0653)	(.2225)	(.0702)	(.2373)	(.0519)	(.0256)	(.2408)	(.1872)
Urban residence	n.d.	1.804***	1.626***	1.902***	0.948	1.673***	0.789***	0.954	n.d.
	n.d.	(.0177)	(.0566)	(.0353)	(.0422)	(.0252)	(.0095)	(.0234)	n.d.
Intercept	0.880**	0.654***	0.617***	0.570***	1.393***	0.404***	2.970***	0.869*	0.666***
	(.0369)	(.0073)	(.0313)	(.0122)	(.0823)	(.0066)	(.0603)	(.0475)	(.0345)
Number of observations	35 208	410 019	57 172	247 623	30 244	259 345	280 080	63 111	11 597

n.d. = no data.

Note: The dependent variable is labour force participation rate. The table presents the odds ratios obtained by estimation of logistic regression models, with the standard error given inside parentheses below each estimate. The odds ratio reports the odds of being in the labour force for men (women) living with a same-sex partner relative to the odds of being in the labour force for men (women) living with a same-sex partner relative to the odds of being in the labour force for men (women) living with an opposite-sex partner. An odds ratio equal to 1 shows that living with a same-sex partner does not affect the odds of being in the labour force. An odds ratio larger (smaller) than 1 indicates that being in a same sex partnership increases (decreases) the likelihood of being in the labour force. The regression models control for age, education and urban residence. Significant values are denoted by *, **, *** at the 10%, 5% and 1% significance levels respectively.

A.II.2. Unemployment

▶ Table A.II.2. Same-sex partnership and unemployment

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
	Argentina	Brazil	Chile	Colombia	France	Mexico	Thailand	United States	Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)
I. Men									
Gays	1.818	2.015***	1.721•	1.741**	1.676**	3.105***	n.a.	0.621	2.478
	-0.8514	-0.3078	-0.4552	-0.345	-0.3054	-0.9458	n.a.	-0.2116	-1.456
Age 35 to 54	0.970	0.820***	0.904	0.983	0.719**	0.963	n.a.	0.864	0.633
	-0.1151	-0.0244	-0.0865	-0.0468	-0.0833	-0.0603	n.a.	-0.0893	-0.1477
Age 45 to 64	0.962	0.802***	1.136	1.217***	0.701***	1.001	n.a.	0.869	0.643*
	-0.1054	-0.0223	-0.0961	-0.0508	-0.0648	-0.0566	n.a.	-0.0761	-0.1264
Education: Upper secondary	0.536***	0.667***	0.881	0.876**	0.435***	0.996	n.a.	0.660**	0.806
Education: Beyond upper secondary	0.265***	0.341***	0.441***	0.782***	0.253***	1.158*	n.a.	0.385***	0.811
	-0.0442	-0.0152	-0.0398	-0.0361	-0.0283	-0.077	n.a.	-0.0544	-0.1924
Urban residence	n.d.	1.259***	1.205**	2.363***	1.381***	1.525***	n.a.	1.028	n.d.
	n.d.	-0.0304	-0.0846	-0.1277	-0.1315	-0.0958	n.a.	-0.0949	n.d.
Intercept	0.084***	0.074***	0.034***	0.025***	0.120***	0.014***	n.a.	0.044***	0.032***
	-0.0081	-0.002	-0.0036	-0.0015	-0.0162	-0.0009	n.a.	-0.0072	-0.0056
Number of observations	30 753	331 072	48 907	216 752	24 092	226 995	n.a.	52 364	10 288
II. Women									
Lesbians	0.713	1.043	0.795	0.638*	0.567*	0.733	n.a.	1.303	1.114
	-0.2304	-0.101	-0.2068	-0.1119	-0.1334	-0.2593	n.a.	-0.3135	-0.4381
Age 35 to 54	0.738**	0.595***	0.923	0.607***	0.675***	0.585***	n.a.	0.849	0.516***
	-0.0729	-0.014	-0.0851	-0.0213	-0.0569	-0.0435	n.a.	-0.084	-0.0897
Age 45 to 64	0.491***	0.361***	0.689***	0.364***	0.379***	0.363***	n.a.	0.749***	0.245***
	-0.0501	-0.0096	-0.0531	-0.0145	-0.031	-0.0322	n.a.	-0.0644	-0.0473
Education: Upper secondary	0.702***	0.740***	0.922	0.930	0.495***	1.164*	n.a.	0.519***	0.980
	-0.0637	-0.0174	-0.0764	-0.037	-0.0401	-0.0896	n.a.	-0.0885	-0.1927
Education: Beyond upper secondary	0.252***	0.354***	0.363***	0.664***	0.255***	1.146	n.a.	0.337***	0.905
	-0.0323	-0.011	-0.0365	-0.0275	-0.0237	-0.105	n.a.	-0.0573	-0.1641
Urban residence	n.d.	1.518***	1.067	1.534***	0.996	1.427***	n.a.	0.971	n.d.
	n.d.	-0.0381	-0.0956	-0.0735	-0.0782	-0.1308	n.a.	-0.0834	n.d.
Intercept	0.206***	0.178***	0.086***	0.157***	0.255***	0.024***	n.a.	0.072***	0.082***
	-0.0189	-0.0048	-0.01	-0.0077	-0.0272	-0.0024	n.a.	-0.0136	-0.0136
Number of observations	21 216	235 183	29 802	142 179	22 772	124 237	n.a.	45 302	6 776

n.d. = no data.

Note: The dependent variable is being unemployed. The table presents the odds ratios obtained by estimation of logistic regression models, with the standard error given inside parentheses below each estimate. The odds ratio reports the odds of being unemployed for men (women) living with a same-sex partner relative to the odds of unemployment for men (women) living with an opposite-sex partner. An odds ratio equal to 1 shows that living with a same-sex partner does not affect the odds of unemployment. An odds ratio larger (smaller) than 1 indicates that being in a same-sex partnership increases (decreases) the likelihood of being unemployed. The regression models control for age, education and urban residence. Significant values are denoted by *, **, *** at the 10%, 5% and 1% significance levels respectively.

A.II.3. Self-employment

▶ Table A.II.3. Same-sex partnership and self-employment

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
	Argentina	Brazil	Chile	Colombia	France	Mexico	Thailand	United States	Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)
I. Men									
Gays	0.896	0.740**	0.986	1.249	1.417**	1.43	1.915**	0.922	1.330
	-0.1789	-0.0711	-0.1987	-0.1747	-0.1778	-0.3045	-0.4261	-0.1771	-0.2751
Age 35 to 54	1.628***	1.461***	1.442***	1.250***	1.286**	1.572***	1.977***	1.305***	1.092
	-0.1050	-0.0228	-0.0893	-0.0267	-0.104	-0.0358	-0.052	-0.0847	-0.0741
Age 45 to 64	2.389***	2.154***	1.868***	1.775***	2.070***	2.558***	3.662***	1.780***	1.275***
	-0.1425	-0.0319	-0.1062	-0.035	-0.1511	-0.0536	-0.0862	-0.1019	-0.0799
Education: Upper secondary	0.731***	0.746***	0.745***	0.579***	1.080	0.845***	0.791***	0.540***	0.804***
	-0.0366	-0.0099	-0.0299	-0.0112	-0.0755	-0.0181	-0.0163	-0.0431	-0.046
Education: Beyond upper secondary	0.434***	0.781***	0.467***	0.332***	1.746***	1.042	0.535***	0.359***	0.566***
	-0.0324	-0.0154	-0.0284	-0.008	-0.1526	-0.0302	-0.0125	-0.032	-0.0408
Occupation: Managerial/profession	3.093***	2.173***	2.059***	1.935***	7.913***	2.550***	2.555***	1.085	5.141***
	-0.2857	-0.0513	-0.1316	-0.0535	-1.628	-0.1069	-0.0916	-0.0833	-2.054
Occupation: Services	1.260**	2.635***	1.511***	1.275***	11.499***	5.417***	10.215***	0.849	7.768***
	-0.1131	-0.0555	-0.111	-0.0376	-2.402	-0.1958	-0.3256	-0.075	-3.094
Occupation: Skilled agricultural	3.412***	5.462***	3.101***	1.990***	30.804***	12.460***	14.505***	1.277**	20.227***
	-0.2931	-0.1036	-0.1489	-0.0523	-6.3	-0.4012	-0.3957	-0.0975	-8.219
Occupation: Skilled machinery	1.016	1.871***	1.370***	1.418***	4.937***	1.682***	2.351***	0.795*	13.170***
	-0.0994	-0.0422	-0.0793	-0.0416	-1.271	-0.0659	-0.0776	-0.0772	-5.249
Urban residence	n.d.	0.730***	0.695***	0.812***	0.703***	0.594***	0.790***	0.653***	n.d.
	n.d.	-0.0088	-0.0275	-0.0166	-0.0356	-0.0108	-0.0117	-0.0294	n.d.
Intercept	0.152***	0.220***	0.220***	0.764***	0.012***	0.089***	0.093***	0.143***	0.107***
	-0.0136	-0.0044	-0.0154	-0.0227	-0.0026	-0.003	-0.0032	-0.0153	-0.044
Number of observations	27 250	310 191	45 885	204 062	22 624	219 112	234 200	51 341	10 036

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
	Argentina	Brazil	Chile	Colombia	France	Mexico	Thailand	United States	Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)
II. Women									
Lesbians	0.563*	0.923	1.105	1.067	1.447*	0.237***	0.834	0.803	1.064
	-0.1351	-0.0817	-0.2803	-0.1306	-0.2334	-0.0513	-0.1994	-0.1555	-0.2146
Age 35 to 54	1.332***	1.224***	1.283***	1.101***	1.033	1.179***	2.255***	1.527***	1.061
	-0.1026	-0.0234	-0.0893	-0.0296	-0.0874	-0.0338	-0.0639	-0.1116	-0.0884
Age 45 to 64	1.716***	1.574***	1.539***	1.435***	1.442***	1.748***	4.427***	1.780***	1.071
	-0.1264	-0.0293	-0.0963	-0.038	-0.1088	-0.0462	-0.1189	-0.1155	-0.0863
Education: Upper secondary	0.535***	0.617***	0.517***	0.540***	1.153	0.546***	0.762***	0.799	0.820*
	-0.0409	-0.0118	-0.0315	-0.0153	-0.1451	-0.015	-0.0209	-0.1257	-0.0636
Education: Beyond upper secondary	0.209***	0.578***	0.258***	0.243***	1.642***	0.290***	0.400***	0.729	0.394***
	-0.0196	-0.0141	-0.0231	-0.0075	-0.2166	-0.0117	-0.0119	-0.1206	-0.0358
Occupation: Managerial/profession	27.766***	4.332***	2.353***	1.932***	48.721***	2.230***	1.484***	1.239	3.78
	-4.5	-0.1291	-0.1982	-0.0696	-24.78	-0.091	-0.0706	-0.165	-3.823
Occupation: Services	22.570***	8.709***	2.855***	1.698***	30.076***	4.364***	15.108***	1.388*	12.679*
	-3.382	-0.2087	-0.1819	-0.0577	-15.29	-0.13	-0.4618	-0.1775	-12.81
Occupation: Skilled agricultural	144.843***	34.450***	14.822***	2.994***	808.826***	6.210***	30.074***	1.678**	24.588**
	-33.77	-1.072	-1.38	-0.1447	-157.6	-0.2441	-0.8505	-0.2796	-25.38
Occupation: Skilled machinery	36.178***	5.731***	1.587**	1.993***	9.916***	0.299***	1.136**	1.366	37.388***
	-8.074	-0.2503	-0.2622	-0.1207	-5.563	-0.026	-0.052	-0.2659	-37.98
Urban residence	n.d.	0.503***	0.816**	0.496***	0.703***	0.489***	0.790***	0.782***	n.d.
	n.d.	-0.0088	-0.0523	-0.016	-0.05	-0.0131	-0.0148	-0.0418	n.d.
Intercept	0.027***	0.158***	0.264***	1.858***	0.002***	0.480***	0.082***	0.049***	0.091*
	-0.0041	-0.0043	-0.0226	-0.0814	-0.0011	-0.0172	-0.003	-0.0088	-0.0924
Number of observations	18 537	212 286	27 036	125 084	21 104	119 254	201 117	44 272	6 489

n.d. = no data.

Note: The dependent variable is being self-employed. The table presents the odds ratio obtained by estimation of logistic regression models, with the standard error given inside parentheses below each estimate. The odds ratio reports the odds of being self-employed for men (women) living with a same-sex partner relative to the odds of self-employment of opposite-sex partners. An odds ratio equal to 1 shows that living with a same-sex partner does not affect the odds of self-employment. An odds ratio larger (smaller) than 1 indicates that being in a same sex relationship increases (decreases) the likelihood of being self-employed. The regression models control for age, education, occupation and urban residence. Significant values are denoted by *, **, *** at the 10%, 5% and 1% significance levels respectively.

A.II.4. Wages

► Table A.II.4. Same-sex partnership and wages

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
	Argentina	Brazil	Chile	Colombia	France	Mexico	Thailand	United States	Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)
I. Men									
Gays	0.004	0.050	-0.015	0.146**	-0.111***	0.041	-0.151*	-0.099**	-0.246
	-0.0624	-0.0389	-0.0883	-0.0481	-0.0217	-0.0481	-0.074	-0.0334	-0.1849
Age	0.065	0.016	0.167	0.015	0.158**	-0.063	0.085*	0.004	0.685*
	-0.1121	-0.0296	-0.1149	-0.0468	-0.0576	-0.0404	-0.0348	-0.0553	-0.2867
Age^2	-0.001	0.000	-0.005	-0.000	-0.005*	0.002	-0.004**	0.002	-0.025*
	-0.0043	-0.0011	-0.0042	-0.0018	-0.0022	-0.0016	-0.0013	-0.0021	-0.0108
Age^3	-0.000	-0.000	0.000	-0.000	0.000	-0.000	0.000***	-0.000	0.000*
	(7.0e-05)	(1.9e-05)	(6.6e-05)	(2.9e-05)	(3.5e-05)	(2.6e-05)	(2.1e-05)	(3.4e-05)	(1.7e-04)
Age^4	0.000	0.000	-0.000	-0.000	-0.000	0.000	-0.000***	0.000	-0.000*
	(4.1e-07)	(1.1e-07)	(3.8e-07)	(1.8e-07)	(2.1e-07)	(1.6e-07)	(1.3e-07)	(2.0e-07)	(1.0e-06)
Education: Upper secondary	0.235***	0.265***	0.178***	0.151***	0.066***	0.121***	0.239***	0.259***	0.132***
	-0.016	-0.0042	-0.0121	-0.0062	-0.0074	-0.0067	-0.0059	-0.0148	-0.0359
Education: Beyond upper secondary	0.412***	0.836***	0.576***	0.657***	0.271***	0.422***	0.757***	0.518***	0.182***
	-0.0231	-0.0078	-0.0206	-0.0092	-0.0095	-0.0108	-0.0077	-0.0158	-0.0516
Occupation: Managerial/professional	0.485***	0.585***	0.806***	0.331***	0.212***	0.667***	0.627***	0.410***	-0.053
	-0.0284	-0.0075	-0.0217	-0.0094	-0.0105	-0.0112	-0.0089	-0.0118	-0.0919
Occupation: Services	0.208***	0.128***	0.206***	0.070***	-0.028*	0.302***	0.329***	0.039**	-0.252**
	-0.0241	-0.006	-0.0197	-0.0088	-0.011	-0.009	-0.007	-0.014	-0.0852
Occupation: Skilled agricultural	0.086**	0.196***	0.181***	0.080***	0.009	0.414***	0.187***	0.174***	-0.190
	-0.0263	-0.0056	-0.014	-0.0081	-0.0105	-0.009	-0.0054	-0.0123	-0.0997
Occupation: Skilled machinery	0.182***	0.260***	0.192***	0.090***	0.023*	0.378***	0.386***	0.059***	-0.090
	-0.0273	-0.006	-0.0158	-0.0083	-0.0113	-0.0089	-0.0059	-0.0136	-0.0864
Public sector	0.114***	0.313***	0.124***	0.338***	-0.038***	0.140***	0.086***	-0.026**	0.075*
	-0.0165	-0.0068	-0.0172	-0.0109	-0.0084	-0.0089	-0.0076	-0.0099	-0.0335
Hours worked: 21-40	-0.060	-0.012	-1.288***	-0.071	0.075*	-0.270***	-0.511***	-0.592***	-0.257
	-0.042	-0.0147	-0.0782	-0.0636	-0.031	-0.0281	-0.0264	-0.0433	-0.2221
Hours worked: 41 or more	-0.300***	-0.076***	-1.428***	-0.288***	0.094**	-0.678***	-0.647***	-0.625***	-0.445*
	-0.0423	-0.0147	-0.076	-0.0628	-0.032	-0.0282	-0.0263	-0.0435	-0.2235
Urban residence	n.d.	0.283***	0.091***	0.084***	0.065***	0.296***	0.197***	0.074***	n.d.
	n.d.	-0.0046	-0.0138	-0.0069	-0.0075	-0.0076	-0.0042	-0.008	n.d.
Intercept	3.448**	0.887**	6.338***	7.536***	0.085	3.993***	3.291***	2.234***	0.688
	-1.071	-0.2766	-1.132	-0.4477	-0.5553	-0.3757	-0.3344	-0.5341	-2.757
Number of observations	16 339	179 208	19 065	95 722	18 768	119 041	91 874	40 740	4 197

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)
	Argentina	Brazil	Chile	Colombia	France	Mexico	Thailand	United States	Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)
II. Women									
Lesbians	-0.098	0.066**	0.175**	0.012	0.013	0.105	0.076	-0.014	0.349**
	-0.0531	-0.0254	-0.0651	-0.0471	-0.0174	-0.0537	-0.0634	-0.0406	-0.1186
Age	0.042	0.066*	0.246	0.029	0.089	-0.083	0.162***	0.131*	0.413
	-0.1429	-0.0317	-0.1753	-0.0689	-0.0609	-0.0693	-0.037	-0.0654	-0.42
Age^2	0.000	-0.001	-0.007	0.000	-0.003	0.003	-0.007***	-0.003	-0.016
	-0.0055	-0.0012	-0.0066	-0.0026	-0.0023	-0.0027	-0.0014	-0.0025	-0.0159
Age^3		0.000	0.000	-0.000	0.000	-0.000	0.000***	0.000	0.000
	(9.0e-05)	(2.1e-05)	(1.1e-04)	(4.4e-05)	(3.9e-05)	(4.6e-05)	(2.4e-05)	(4.0e-05)	(2.6e-04)
Age^4	0.000	-0.000	-0.000	0.000	-0.000	0.000	-0.000***	-0.000	-0.000
	(5.4e-07)	(1.3e-07)	(6.1e-07)	(2.6e-07)	(2.3e-07)	(2.9e-07)	(1.5e-07)	(2.4e-07)	(1.5e-06)
Education: Upper secondary	0.258***	0.179***	0.120***	0.183***	0.081***	0.205***	0.204***	0.210***	0.161*
	-0.0237	-0.0056	-0.0214	-0.0112	-0.0084	-0.012	-0.0067	-0.0192	-0.065
Education: Beyond upper secondary	0.489***	0.686***	0.510***	0.654***	0.238***	0.506***	0.647***	0.494***	0.519***
	-0.0283	-0.0079	-0.0385	-0.013	-0.01	-0.0159	-0.0088	-0.0201	-0.0631
Occupation: Managerial/professional	0.507***	0.492***	0.732***	0.404***	0.315***	0.527***	0.604***	0.467***	0.494
	-0.0278	-0.0076	-0.0342	-0.0128	-0.0104	-0.0173	-0.0098	-0.0168	-0.281
Occupation: Services	0.215***	0.060***	0.164***	0.047***	0.031***	0.236***	0.213***	0.090***	0.449
	-0.0237	-0.0058	-0.0205	-0.0113	-0.0088	-0.0141	-0.0065	-0.0159	-0.2814
Occupation: Skilled agricultural	0.202	0.088***	0.084	0.101***	0.049*	0.098***	-0.028***	0.089***	-0.129
	-0.1272	-0.0113	-0.0479	-0.0177	-0.0234	-0.022	-0.0077	-0.0231	-0.3226
Occupation: Skilled machinery	0.087	0.127***	0.167***	0.129***	0.112***	0.457***	0.264***	0.089***	0.096
	-0.0719	-0.0108	-0.038	-0.0219	-0.0143	-0.0141	-0.0071	-0.0241	-0.305
Public sector	0.135***	0.149***	0.022	0.507***	0.009	0.115***	0.202***	-0.018	0.253***
	-0.0168	-0.0063	-0.0191	-0.0133	-0.0062	-0.0126	-0.0086	-0.0101	-0.044
Hours worked: 21–40	-0.082***	-0.190***	-0.424***	0.000	-0.051***	-0.352***	-0.527***	-0.182***	0.021
	-0.0191	-0.0078	-0.0457	-0.0258	-0.0143	-0.0131	-0.0296	-0.0205	-0.1946
Hours worked: 41 or more	-0.338***	-0.263***	-0.521***	-0.148***	-0.107***	-0.833***	-0.622***	-0.188***	-0.341
	-0.0274	-0.0083	-0.0432	-0.0245	-0.0179	-0.0154	-0.0296	-0.0226	-0.2074
Urban residence	n.d.	0.283***	0.158***	0.173***	0.046***	0.247***	0.172***	0.114***	n.d.
	n.d.	-0.0059	-0.0216	-0.0149	-0.0065	-0.0146	-0.0045	-0.0091	n.d.
Intercept	3.505**	0.595*	4.285*	6.773***	0.848	4.032***	2.563***	0.503	2.106
	-1.351	-0.2917	-1.69	-0.6523	-0.5728	-0.6346	-0.3501	-0.6248	-4.028
Number of observations	11 698	137 052	11 324	61 519	18 780	60 712	68 945	36 600	3 579

n.d. = no data.

Note: The table presents, as decimal values, the wage premiums or penalties experienced by men and women in a same-sex partnership relative to their heterosexual counterparts, with the standard error given inside parentheses below each estimate. The dependent variable is the log of hourly wages. The regression models control for age (through a quartic age specification), education, occupation, employment in the public sector, hours worked, urban residence, and year fixed effects if more than two years of data are used in the analyses. Significant values are denoted by *, **, *** at the 10%, 5% and 1% significance levels respectively.

Appendix III. Robustness check using a direct measure to identify same-sex partnership: The case of Chile

The method used in our analyses to identify same-sex partnership has its limitations. An individual living with other adults or an adult child could erroneously be labelled as having a samesex partner. Misclassification into same-sex partnership could also happen as a result of measurement errors in the sex variable. In this appendix, we assess the accuracy of our results using the constructed same-sex partnership variable for Chile, where a direct measure of same-sex partnership is available. We observed an 87 per cent overlap between our constructed measure and the direct measure, meaning that around nine in ten people directly identified as having a same-sex partner by the Chilean survey questionnaire are also identified as such by the methodology used for this study.

We estimate our main specifications from the main text, replacing our constructed measure of same-sex partnership with the direct measure. The results are presented in table A.III below. Panel A reports the results for men, and Panel B those for women. Our labour force participation results for both men and women remain consistent when using the direct measure of sexual partnership (see columns 1 and 5). The unemployment results are qualitatively similar to our main results, but the higher unemployment of gay men relative to their heterosexual counterparts is no longer statistically significant (see columns 2 and 6). Consistent with our main findings, we do not find a statistically significant relationship between sexual orientation and self-employment (see columns 3 and 7). In line with our main estimates, the wage premium for lesbians becomes more pronounced, while we do not observe a statistically significant wage penalty for gay men (see columns 4 and 8).

Table A.III. Labour market outcomes and same-sex partnership identified with a direct measure: the case of Chile

		A) Me	en	B) Women					
	(1)	(1) (2) (3) (4		(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	
	LFPR	Unemployment	Self-employment	Log hourly wages	LFPR	Unemployment	Self-employment	Log hourly wages	
Gay/Lesbian	0.464***	1.503	1.093	-0.032	4.791***	0.734	1.057	0.224**	
	(.1045)	(.4125)	(.2127)	(.0900)	(.9674)	(.1995)	(.2757)	(.0772)	

LFPR = labour force participation rate.

Note: Columns 1–3 and 5–7 present the odds ratios obtained by estimation of logistic regression models, with the standard error given inside parentheses below each estimate. An odds ratio equal to 1 shows that living with a same-sex partner does not affect the odds of the outcome variable. An odds ratio larger (smaller) than 1 indicates that being in a same-sex partnership increases (decreases) the likelihood of the outcome variable. Columns 4 and 8 report the results from ordinary least squares estimation of the wage equation (that is, equation (2) in Chapter 2). The regression models control for age, education, occupation, public employment, hours worked and urban residence. Significant values are denoted by *, **, *** at the 10%, 5% and 1% significance levels respectively.

References

Allegretto, Sylvia A., and Michelle M. Arthur. 2001. "An Empirical Analysis of Homosexual/ Heterosexual Male Earnings Differentials: Unmarried and Unequal?" *Industrial and Labor Relations Review* 54 (3): 631–646.

Arabsheibani, G. Reza, Alan Marin, and Jonathan Wadsworth. 2005. "Gay Pay in the UK". *Economica* 72 (286): 333–347.

Badgett, M.V. Lee, Christopher S. Carpenter, Maxine J. Lee, and Dario Sansone. Forthcoming. "A Review of the Economics of Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity". *Journal of Economic Literature*.

Badgett, M.V. Lee, Christopher S. Carpenter, and Dario Sansone. 2021. "LGBTQ Economics". *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 35 (2): 141–170.

Black, Dan, Gary Gates, Seth Sanders, and Lowell Taylor. 2000. "Demographics of the Gay and Lesbian Population in the United States: Evidence from Available Systematic Data Sources". *Demography* 37 (2): 139–154.

Brown, Camila, Dante Contreras, and Luis Schmidt. 2019. "Sexual Orientation and Labor Force Participation: Findings from Chile and Uruguay". *Feminist Economics* 25 (2): 90–115.

Drydakis, Nick. 2012. "Sexual Orientation and Labour Relations: New Evidence from Athens, Greece". *Applied Economics* 44 (20): 2653–2665.

———. 2022. "Sexual Orientation and Earnings: A Meta-Analysis 2012–2020". *Journal of Population Economics* 35 (2): 409–440.

Flage, Alexander. 2020. "Discrimination against Gays and Lesbians in Hiring Decisions: A Meta-Analysis". *International Journal of Manpower* 41 (6): 671–691.

Fric, Karel. 2021. "Do Gays and Lesbians Experience more Frequent and Longer Unemployment?" *Economics and Sociology* 14 (3): 105–126.

Gammarano, Rosina. 2019. "Inclusion and Diversity in the Labour Market: A Call for LGBT Labour Statistics". ILOSTAT Blog (blog). 9 December 2019. https://ilostat.ilo.org/inclusion-and-diversity-in-the-labour-market-a-call-for-lgbt-labour-statistics/.

Germon, Rony, Séverine Leloarne, Myriam Razgallah, Imen Safraou, and Adnane Maalaoui. 2020. "The Role of Sexual Orientation in Entrepreneurial Intention: The Case of Parisian LGB People". *Journal of Organizational Change Management* 33 (3): 527–544.

Hofmarcher, Thomas, and Erik Plug. 2022. "Specialization in Same-Sex and Different-Sex Couples". *Labour Economics* 77: 101995.

Jepsen, Christopher, and Lisa K. Jepsen. 2017. "Self-Employment, Earnings, and Sexual Orientation". *Review of Economics of the Household* 15 (1): 287–305.

———. 2022. "Convergence over Time or Not? U.S. Wages by Sexual Orientation, 2000–2019". *Labour Economics* 74: 102086.

Klawitter, Marieka. 2015. "Meta-Analysis of the Effects of Sexual Orientation on Earnings". *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society* 54 (1): 4–32.

Laurent, Thierry, and Ferhat Mihoubi. 2017. "Sexual Orientation, Unemployment and Participation: Are Gays Less Employable than Straights?" *Journal of Labor Research* 38 (1): 1–44.

Lemieux, Thomas. 2006. "The 'Mincer Equation' Thirty Years after 'Schooling, Experience, and Earnings". In *Jacob Mincer: A Pioneer of Modern Labor Economics*, edited by Shoshana Grossbard, 127–145. Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

Leppel, Karen. 2009. "Labour Force Status and Sexual Orientation". Economica 76 (301): 197–207.

———. 2016. "The Incidence of Self-Employment by Sexual Orientation". *Small Business Economics* 46 (3): 347–363.

Marlow, Susan, Francis J. Greene, and Alex Coad. 2018. "Advancing Gendered Analyses of Entrepreneurship: A Critical Exploration of Entrepreneurial Activity among Gay Men and Lesbian Women". *British Journal of Management* 29 (1): 118–135.

Martell, Michael E., and Leanne Roncolato. 2016. "The Homosexual Lifestyle: Time Use in Same-Sex Households". *Journal of Demographic Economics* 82 (4): 365–398.

Nyeck, S.N., Debra Shepherd, Joshua Sehoole, Lihle Ngcobozi, and Kerith J. Conron. 2019. "The Economic Cost of LGBT Stigma and Discrimination in South Africa". University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA) School of Law, Williams Institute.

Siminski, Peter, and Rhiannon Yetsenga. 2022. "Specialization, Comparative Advantage, and the Sexual Division of Labor". *Journal of Labor Economics* 40 (4): 851–887.

Tebaldi, Edinaldo, and Bruce Elmslie. 2006. "Sexual Orientation and Labour Supply". *Applied Economics* 38 (5): 549–562.

Valfort, Marie-Anne. 2017. "LGBTI in OECD Countries: A Review", OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers No. 198.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to a number of colleagues at the ILO, particularly Catherine Saget, Giulia Dellaferrera, Tahmina Karimova, Sergei Soares, Richard Samans, Manuela Tomei, Aikaterini Charara, Martin Oelz, Valentina Beghini and Lisa Tortell, whose valuable insights have enhanced this paper.

Advancing social justice, promoting decent work

The International Labour Organization is the United Nations agency for the world of work. We bring together governments, employers and workers to improve the working lives of all people, driving a human-centred approach to the future of work through employment creation, rights at work, social protection and social dialogue.

Contact details

Research Department (RESEARCH)

International Labour Organization Route des Morillons 4 1211 Geneva 22 Switzerland T +41 22 799 6530 research@ilo.org www.ilo.org/research



